REGULAR COUNCIL
MEETING AGENDA

MAyY 24, 2017
10:00 A.M.

CouNcIL CHAMBERS
FORT VERMILION, AB

P.O. Box 640, 4511-46 Avenue, Fort Vermilion, AB TOH 1NO
P: (780) 927-3718 |Toll Free: 1-877-927-0677 | F: (780) 927-4266
www.mackenziecounty.com | office@mackenziecounty.com






MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

Wednesday, May 24, 2017
10:00 a.m.

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers
Fort Vermilion, Alberta

AGENDA
Page
CALL TO ORDER: 1. a) Call to Order
AGENDA: 2. a) Adoption of Agenda
ADOPTION OF 3. a) Minutes of the May 9, 2017 Regular 7
PREVIOUS MINUTES: Council Meeting
DELEGATIONS: 4, a) S/Sgt. Bill Mooney, Fort Vermilion RCMP (11:30 21
a.m.)
b) Randy Affolder, Alliance Assessment (1:30 p.m.)
(Teleconference)
c)
COUNCIL 5. a) Council Committee Reports (verbal)
COMMITTEE
REPORTS: b) Community Services Committee Meeting Minutes 33
C) Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 39
d) Agricultural Fair Committee Meeting Minutes 45
e)
GENERAL 6. a)
REPORTS:



TENDERS:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

ADMINISTRATION:

AGRICULTURE
SERVICES:

COMMUNITY
SERVICES:

FINANCE:

b)

Machesis Lake Campground Caretaker (11:00
a.m.)

Asbestos Abatement from a Two Story Office
Building — Fort Vermilion, AB (11:00 a.m.)

Public Hearings are scheduled for 1:00 p.m.

8.

10.

11.

12.

a)

Bylaw 1066-17 Land Use Bylaw Repeal and
Replace

Bylaw 1068-17 Fee Schedule Bylaw

Jubilee Park Committee — Request for Installation

of Flags

Policy ADM055 Residential Rental to Employees

Caribou Update (to be presented at the meeting)

Town of High Level — Cost Sharing Request for
Fire Department Air Resupply Project

La Crete Recreation Board — Dressing Room
Expansion, Lobby Renovation and Arena
Entrance Upgrade Funding Options

51

53

55

295

339

343

347

351



OPERATIONS:

PLANNING &
DEVELOPMENT:

UTILITIES:

INFORMATION /

CORRESPONDENCE:

IN CAMERA
SESSION:

NOTICE OF MOTION:

NEXT MEETING
DATES:

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

b)

Organic Alberta: Mackenzie County Organic
Success Program

Information/Correspondence

Legal
e Assessment Services Contract

Labour

Land

Regular Council Meeting

June 13, 2017

10:00 a.m.

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers

Committee of the Whole Meeting
June 27, 2017

1:00 p.m.

La Crete Conference Room

Regular Council Meeting
June 28, 2017

355

359



10:00 a.m.
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers

ADJOURNMENT: 20. a) Adjournment



Agenda ltem # 3. a)

REQUEST FOR DECISION
Meeting: Regular Council Meeting
Meeting Date: May 24, 2017
Presented By: Carol Gabriel, Director of Legislative & Support Services
Title: Minutes of the May 9, 2017 Regular Council Meeting

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

Minutes of the May 9, 2017, Regular Council Meeting are attached.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

COMMUNICATION:

Approved Council Meetings minutes are posted on the County website.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the minutes of the May 9, 2017, Regular Council Meeting be adopted as
presented.

Author:  C. Gabriel Reviewed by: CG CAO:







PRESENT:

REGRETS:

ADMINISTRATION:

ALSO PRESENT:

MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

Tuesday, May 9, 2017

10:00 a.m.

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers
Fort Vermilion, Alberta

Bill Neufeld

Lisa Wardley
Jacquie Bateman
Peter F. Braun
Elmer Derksen
John W. Driedger
Eric Jorgensen
Josh Knelsen
Walter Sarapuk

Ray Toews

Len Racher
Byron Peters
Fred Wiebe
Karen Huff
Dave Fehr
Grant Smith
Carol Gabriel

Jessica Ruskowsky

Reeve
Deputy Reeve (left the meeting at 3:48 p.m.)
Councillor

Councillor

Councillor (left the meeting at 3:06 p.m.)
Councillor

Councillor (arrived at 10:04 a.m.)
Councillor

Councillor (left the meeting at 2:47 p.m.)

Councillor

Chief Administrative Officer
Director of Planning & Development
Director of Utilities

Director of Finance

Director of Operations

Agricultural Fieldman

Director of Legislative & Support
Services/Recording Secretary
Executive Assistant to the CAO

Members of the Public and the Media

Ann Everatt, President/CEO, Northern Lakes College
Philip Doerksen, La Crete Recreation Board

Randy Affolder, Alliance Assessment

Minutes of the Regular Council meeting for Mackenzie County held on May 9, 2017 in the
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers.

CALL TO ORDER:

AGENDA:

1.a) Callto Order

Reeve Neufeld called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.

2.a) Adoption of Agenda



MACKENZIE COUNTY

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-321

ADOPTION OF
PREVIOUS
MINUTES:

MOTION 17-05-322

DELEGATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-323

DELEGATIONS

MOTION 17-05-324

MOTION 17-05-325
Requires 2/3

Page 2 of 12

MOVED by Councillor Driedger

That the agenda be approved with the following additions:
9.d) New Horizons for Seniors
10. a) Fort Vermilion Courthouse Building

CARRIED

3.a) Minutes of the April 26, 2017 Regular Council
Meeting

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the minutes of the April 26, 2017, Regular Council Meeting be
adopted as presented.

CARRIED

4.a) Ann Everatt, President/GEQO — Northern Lakes College
Councillor Jorgensen joined the meeting at 10:04 a.m.

MOVED by Couné€iller dJorgensen

That the Northern Cakes College presentation be received for
information.

CARRIED

4.h) “Philip Doerksen, La Crete Recreation Board

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the La Crete Recreation Board be authorized to proceed and
that the funding be released for the La Crete Splash Park project
according to budget.

CARRIED

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That the budget be amended to include an additional $382,500 for
the La Crete Recreation Board — Dressing Room Expansion, Lobby
Renovation and Arena entrance upgrade with funding coming from

the General Capital Reserve for a total project cost of $482,500 and
that administration bring back alternate funding options.

10



MACKENZIE COUNTY Page 3 of 12
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

CARRIED

Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 10:49 a.m. and reconvened
the meeting at 11:02 a.m.

TENDERS: 7.a) 2017 Regravelling Program (11:00 a.m.)

Councillor Bateman declared herself in conflict of interest and sat in
the gallery.

MOTION 17-05-326 MOVED by Councillor Driedger
That the 2017 Regravelling Program tenders be opened.
CARRIED

Tenders Received:

Proponent | Total Bid Schedule A | Schedule B | Schedule C | Schedule D
Northwest $508,422 $199,500 $185,240 $95,992 $27,690
Trenching

Ltd.

Knelsen $563,760 $218,400 $206,690 $101,620 $37,050
Sand &

Gravel

Bateman $683,025 $164,500 $385,000 $103,600 $29,925
Petroleum

Sales Ltd.

B. Hinson $462,400 $185,500 $240,900 N/A $36,000
Contracting

MOTION 17-05-327 o MOVED by Councillor Braun
That the 2017 Regravelling Program Tender be reviewed by
administration and that a recommendation for awarding be brought
back later in the meeting.
CARRIED
Councillor Bateman resumed her seat at the table at 11:14 a.m.
COUNCIL 5.a) Council Committee Reports
COMMITTEE
REPORTS:

MOTION 17-05-328 MOVED by Councillor Driedger

11




MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-329

MOTION 17-05-330

MOTION 17-05-331

MOTION 17-05-332

MOTION 17-05-333

Page 4 of 12

That the Council committee reports be received for information.
CARRIED

5. b) Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes
MOVED by Councillor Driedger

That the Municipal Planning Commission meeting minutes of April
20, 2017 be received for information.

CARRIED
5.c¢) Agricultural Service Board Meeting Minutes
MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That the minutes from the April 24,2017 and May 2, 2017
Agricultural Service Board meeting beséceived for information.

CARRIED
5.d) Finance Committee Meeting Minutes
MOVED by Coungillor Braun

That the unapproved Finance Committee meeting minutes of April
24, 2017 bereceived for information.

CARRIED

5. e)) Fort Vermilion Streetscape Implementation Committee
Meeting Minutes

MOVED by Councillor Sarapuk

That the Fort Vermilion Streetscape Implementation Committee
meeting minutes of March 16 and April 6, 2017 be received for
information.

CARRIED

5.f) Northwest Species at Risk Committee Meeting Minutes

MOVED by Councillor Sarapuk

That the Northwest Species at Risk Committee meeting minutes of

12



MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-334

GENERAL
REPORTS:

MOTION 17-05-335

PUBLIC
HEARINGS:

Page 5 of 12

April 11, 20 and 21, 2017 be received for information.
CARRIED

5.g) Agricultural Fair Committee Meeting Minutes
MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the minutes from the April 5, 2017 Agricultural Fair Committee
meeting be received for information.

CARRIED

6.a) CAO Report

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen
That the CAO report for April 2017, bexeceived for information.
CARRIED

Reeve Neufeld receSsedihe meeting at 12:23 p.m. and reconvened
the meeting at 104 p.m,

8.a) Bylaw 1063=17 Partial Road Closure at Fort Vermilion
Truck '®ill Station Plan 112 0425, Block 2, Lot 1 (Fort
Vermition Rural)

Reeve*Neufeld called the public hearing for Bylaw 1063-17 to order
at4:04,p.m.

Reeve Neufeld asked if the public hearing for proposed Bylaw 1063-
17 was properly advertised. Byron Peters, Director of Planning &
Development, answered that the bylaw was advertised in
accordance with the Municipal Government Act.

Reeve Neufeld asked the Development Authority to outline the
proposed Partial Road Closure. Byron Peters, Director of Planning
& Development, presented the Bylaw and indicated that first reading
was given on April 11, 2017.

Reeve Neufeld asked if Council has any questions of the proposed
Partial Road Closure. No questions were received.

Reeve Neufeld asked if any submissions were received in regards
to proposed Bylaw 1063-17. No submissions were received.

13



MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-336

DELEGATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-337

MOTION 17-05-338

TENDERS:

MOTION 17-05-339

TENDERS:

MOTION 17-05-340
Requires 2/3

Page 6 of 12

Reeve Neufeld asked if there was anyone present who would like to
speak in regards to the proposed Bylaw 1063-17. There was no
one present to speak to the proposed bylaw.

Reeve Neufeld closed the public hearing for Bylaw 1063-17 at 1:06
p.m.

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That Bylaw 1063-17 being a Road Closure Bylaw to close a portion
of Road Plan 3884PX for the purpose of consolidation be forwarded
to the Minister of Transportation for approval.

CARRIED

4.c) Randy Affolder, Alliance Assessment

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen

That administration seek legal advice regarding taxing the Mineral
Surface Leases.

MOVED by Coungillor Bateman

That the yote'gn Motion 17-05-337 be tabled to later in the meeting.

CARRIED

7.h) “Flood Control Channel Erosion Repair — Request for
Proposal

MOVED by Councillor Derksen

That the Flood Control Channel Erosion Repair project be awarded
to Wiens Enterprise.

CARRIED
7.a) 2017 Regravelling Program

Councillor Bateman declared herself in conflict of interest at 1:54
p.m. and sat in the gallery.

MOVED by Councillor Braun

14



MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

ADMINISTRATION:

MOTION 17-05-341
Requires 2/3

OPERATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-342

OPERATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-343

MOTION 17-05-344
Requires 2/3

Page 7 of 12

That the 2017 Regravelling Program Tender be awarded to the
lowest qualified bidder of each schedule.

CARRIED

Councillor Bateman resumed her seat at the table at 1:55 p.m.

9.a) 2017 Trappers Rendezvous — Sponsorship Request
MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That Mackenzie County sponsor the 2017 Trappers Rendezvous as
the Ultimate Trapper Competition Sponsor and the Fur Handling
Competition Sponsor in the amount of $6,000.00 with funding
coming from the General Operating Reserve.

CARRIED

Reeve Neufeld recessed the meetingat™:57 p.m. and reconvened
the meeting at 2:10 p.m.

13. a) Policy PW009 PustControl

MOVED by Coun€iller Knelsen

That Policy £W009Dust Control be amended as presented.
CARRIER

13.°B)*Bylaw 1042-16 Fee Schedule

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That the Fee Schedule Bylaw be brought back with the addition of
the following roads to the TRAVIS Permits for Over Weight and
Over Dimensional Vehicles:

e Heliport Road
e Golf Course Road (High Level)

CARRIED
MOVED by Councillor Knelsen
That the dust control fees for seniors be received for information.

CARRIED

15



MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

OPERATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-345

MOTION 17-05-346

DELEGATIONS:

MOTION 17-05-347

MOTION 17-05-337

MOTION 17-05-348

Page 8 of 12

13. c¢) 2017 Dust Control — Product, Cost and Locations
MOVED by Councillor Knelsen

That the dust control maps and summary be received for
information.

CARRIED

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the quote from Tiger Calcium be accepted as it has been a
proven product and the application process.is measurable, and that
the lowest quote from Sands be accepted forthe oil product for the
2017 dust control program.

CARRIED

4.c) Randy Affolder, Alliance Assessment

MOVED by Counciller Bateman

That the vote on"Metion 17-05-337 be brought back onto the table.
CARRIED

MOVERB. by Councillor Jorgensen

That administration seek legal advice regarding taxing the Mineral
Surface Leases.

CARRIED
MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That a letter be sent the Minister of Municipal Affairs in regards to
the ability to assess Mineral Surface Leases.

CARRIED

Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 2:47 p.m. and reconvened
the meeting at 2:56 p.m.

Councillor Sarapuk left the meeting at 2:47 p.m.

16



MACKENZIE COUNTY

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

Tuesday, May 9, 2017

ADMINISTRATION:

MOTION 17-05-349

ADMINISTRATION:

MOTION 17-05-350

ADMINISTRATION:

MOTION 17-05-351

Requires Unanimous

AGRICULTURE
SERVICES:

MOTION 17-05-352

Requires Unanimous

COMMUNITY
SERVICES:

FINANCE:

MOTION 17-05-353

Page 9 of 12

9. b) Letter of Condolence — Fort Chipewyan/Canadian
Rangers

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen

That a letter of condolence be sent to the community of Fort
Chipewyan and the Canadian Rangers.

CARRIED

9.c) Caribou Update

Councillor Derksen left the meeting at 3:06 p.m.

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That the caribou update be received for infosrmation.
CARRIED

9.d) New Horizons for(Seniars (ADDITION)

MOVED by Counciller Jergensen

That the New Horizons for Seniors be received for information.
CARRIED

10. a) Rort Vermilion Courthouse Building (ADDITION)

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That administration demand that the air conditioning condenser
remain with the old Fort Vermilion Courthouse building.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

11. a) None

12. a) Additional Named Insured — The Friends of The Old
Bay House Society

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley

That the provision of insurance coverage to The Friends of The Old

17



MACKENZIE COUNTY
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

PLANNING &
DEVELOPMENT:

MOTION 17-05-354

PLANNING &
DEVELOPMENT:

MOTION 17-05-355

UTILITIES:

INFORMATION:

MOTION 17-05-356

IN-CAMERA
SESSION:

MOTION 17-05-357

Page 10 of 12

Bay House Society, on a cost recovery basis, through the Jubilee
Additional Named Insured Program be approved.

CARRIED

14. a) Development Statistics Report — January to March
2017

MOVED by Councillor Bateman

That the development statistics report January to March 2017 be
received for information.

CARRIED

14. b) 2017 Streetscape Implementation Committee Plans

MOVED by Councillor Knelsen

That the 2017 Streetscape Implementation Committee Plans be
received for informatiom

CARRIED

15. a) None

16. a), Information/Correspondence
MOVEB=by Councillor Driedger

J hatithe information/correspondence items be received for
inférmation.

CARRIED

Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 3:28 p.m. and reconvened
the meeting at 3:35 p.m.

17. In-Camera Session

MOVED by Councillor Driedger
That Council move in-camera to discuss issues under the Freedom

of Information and Protection of Privacy Regulations 18 (1) at 3:35
p.m.

18



MACKENZIE COUNTY

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-358

IN-CAMERA:

MOTION 17-05-359

IN-CAMERA:

MOTION 17-05-360

NOTICE OF
MOTION:

NEXT MEETING
DATES:

ADJOURNMENT:

Page 11 of 12

17. a) Legal
17. a) Labour
e Hiring of Consultants
17. a) Land
e Land Negotiations
CARRIED
Councillor Wardley left the meeting at 3:48 p.m.
MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen
That Council move out of camera at 3:51 p.m.
CARRIED
17. a) Hiring Consultants
MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen
That the hiring of consultants be received for information.
CARRIED
17. c) Land Negetiations

MOVED by Ceuncillor Jorgensen

That administration proceeds with the land negotiations as
discussed:

CARRIED

18. a) None

19. a) Regular Council Meeting
May 24, 2017
10:00 a.m.
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers

b) Regular Council Meeting
June 13, 2017
10:00 a.m.
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers

20. a) Adjournment

19



MACKENZIE COUNTY Page 12 of 12
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, May 9, 2017

MOTION 17-05-361 MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen
That the council meeting be adjourned at 3:53 p.m.
CARRIED

These minutes will be presented to Council for approval on May 24, 2017.

Bill Neufeld Len Racher
Reeve Chief Administrative Officer

§Q
Q
R

@éz



Agenda ltem # 4. a)

REQUEST FOR DECISION
Meeting: Regular Council Meeting
Meeting Date: May 24, 2017
Presented By: Len Racher, Chief Administrative Officer
Title: [S)/ESIEE.GE;AiﬂII\C/)IoNoney, Fort Vermilion RCMP

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

Attached is the policing report for the Month of April as well as Quarter 1. As there has
been some interest in what is being done in the other communities they have also
included a "stakeholders" stat page.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

COMMUNICATION:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the RCMP crime statistics report be received for information.

Author:  C. Gabriel Reviewed by: CAOQ:

21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



Agenda ltem # 5. b)

REQUEST FOR DECISION

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting

Meeting Date: May 24, 2017

Presented By: Doug Munn, Director of Community Services
Title: Community Services Committee Meeting Minutes

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

Unapproved minutes of the May 3, 2017 Community Services Committee Meeting are
attached.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

COMMUNICATION:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the unapproved minutes of the May 3, 2017 Community Services Committee
Meeting be received for information.

Author: J. Batt Reviewed by: D Munn CAO:

33



34



MACKENZIE COUNTY
Community Services Committee Meeting

May 3, 2017
1:00 PM

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers
Fort Vermilion, Alberta

MINUTES
PRESENT: Lisa Wardley Deputy Reeve/Chair
Peter Braun Councillor/Vice Chair
Josh Knelsen Councillor
Ray Toews Councillor
Bill Neufeld Reeve
ALSO PRESENT: Len Racher Chief Administrative Officer
Doug Munn Director of Community Services
Jennifer Batt Public Works Administrative Officer / Finance

Controller/ Recording Secretary

ABSENT
CALL TO ORDER: 1. Call to Order: 1:07 p.m.
Chair Wardley called the meeting to order.
AGENDA: 2, Adoption of Agenda
MOTION CS-17-05-021 MOVED by Councillor Knelsen
That the agenda be approved with additions.
CARRIED
8. a) Machesis Lake Caretaker Resignation
DELIGATION: 3. None
MINUTES: 4, Minutes of the March 27, 2017 meeting
MOTION CS-17-05-022 MOVED by Councillor Braun

That minutes of the March 27, 2017 Community
Services Committee meeting be accepted as presented.

CARRIED

BUSINESS ARISING
FROM THE MINUTES: 5. None

35



NEW BUSINESS:

MOTION CS-17-05-023

MOTION CS-17-05-024

MOTION CS-17-05-025

MOTION CS-17-05-026

6.

MOTION CS-17-05-027

MOTION CS-17-05-028

6.

6.

6.

b.

Cell Service Report

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the Community Services Committee recommends to Council
that they lobby all cell service providers to provide cell service
along all major Highway (Highway 35, 58, 88& 697) corridors.
CARRIED

Peace Officer Program

MOVED by Councillor Toews

That the Peace Officer Report be received for information.
DEFEATED

MOVED by Councillor Knelsen

That the Records Retention Bylaw and Peace Officer Policies be
submitted to the Solicitor General by June.

CARRIED

Bridge Campground Funding Approval

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the Community Services Committee recommends to Council
that the 2017 Budget for the Improvement to Provincial Park -
Bridge Campground be amended such that the $15,000 allocated
by the County for the historical assessment be used for this
project without requiring matching fund.

CARRIED

Deputy Reeve Wardley recessed the meeting at 2:04 p.m. and
reconvened the meeting at 2:15 p.m.

Wadlin Lake Site Visit — May 1, 2017
MOVED by Reeve Neufeld
That the Wadlin Lake site visit report be received for information.

CARRIED

FTen Group of Companies agreement — Wadlin Lake

MOVED by Reeve Neufeld

36



MOTION CS-17-05-029

MOTION CS-17-05-030

MOTION CS-17-05-031

MOTION CS-17-05-032

MOTION CS-17-05-033

That the Wadlin Lake agreement with the FTen Group of
Companies report be received for information.

CARRIED

Deputy Reeve Wardley recessed the meeting at 1:53 p.m. and
reconvened the meeting at 2:02 p.m.

Campground Estimated Purchase Prices
MOVED by Councillor Braun

That administration proceed with survey at Wadlin Lake while
remaining in budget.

CARRIED
Hutch Lake Cabins Playground Area for Review
MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the Hutch Lake Cabin Playground Area report be received for
information.

CARRIED

MOVED by Reeve Neufeld

That the Community Services Committee recommends to Council
to look at purchasing land around Hutch Lake cabins for further
development.

CARRIED

Deputy Reeve Wardley recessed the meeting at 3:07 p.m. and
reconvened the meeting at 3:17 p.m.

Playground Structures Tender

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That administration to proceed with a Request for Proposal for the
playground structures as discussed, and Proposals to be opened
and reviewed at the next Community Services Committee
meeting.

CARRIED

La Crete Ferry Campground

MOVED by Reeve Neufeld

That the La Crete Ferry Campground report be received for
information.

37



MOTION CS-17-05-034

ADDITIONS: 8.

MOTION CS-17-05-035

NEXT MEETING DATE: 9.

ADJOURNMENT:

MOTION CS-17-05-036

a.

CARRIED

Action List

MOVED by Councillor Braun

That the Action list be received for information as amended.
CARRIED

Machesis Lake Caretaker Resignation

MOVED by Councillor Knelsen

That the Machesis Lake Caretaker report be received for
information as amended.

CARRIED

The next Community Service Committee Meeting be scheduled
for 2:00 pm June 12, 2017 in La Crete.

MOVED by Reeve Neufeld
Meeting was adjourned at 4:00 p.m.

CARRIED

38



Agenda Iltem # 5. ¢)

REQUEST FOR DECISION
Meeting: Regular Council Meeting
Meeting Date: May 24,2017
Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning & Development
Title: Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

The minutes of the May 4, 2017 Municipal Planning Commission meeting are attached.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

N/A

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

N/A

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

N/A

COMMUNICATION:

N/A

Author:  B. Peters Reviewed by: CAOQ:

39



RECOMMENDED ACTION:

M  Simple Maijority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the Municipal Planning Commission meeting minutes of May 4, 2017 be received
for information.

Author:  B. Peters Reviewed by: CAOQ:

40



MACKENZIE COUNTY

Municipal Planning Commission Meeting

Thursday, May 4, 2017

MACKENZIE COUNTY
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting

Mackenzie County Office
La Crete, AB

Thursday, May 4, 2017 @ 10:00 a.m.

PRESENT: John W. Driedger Chair, Councillor, MPC Member
via teleconference

Erick Carter Vice Chair, MPC Member via teleconference

Jacquie Bateman Councillor, MPC Member via teleconference

Jack Eccles MPC Member via teleconference

Beth Kappelar MPC Member via teleconference
ADMINISTRATION: Hayley Gavin Planner

Liane Lambert Planner

Caitlin Smith Development Officer

Lynda Washkevich Administrative Assistant/Recording Secretary
MOTION 1. CALL TO ORDER

MPC-17-05-059

MPC-17-05-060

Erick Carter called the meeting to order at 10:14 a.m.

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

MOVED by Jack Eccles

That the agenda be adopted as presented.
CARRIED

3. MINUTES

a) Adoption of Minutes

MOVED by Beth Kappelar

That the minutes of April 20, 2017 Municipal Planning
Commission meeting be adopted as presented.

CARRIED

b) Business Arising from Previous Minutes

41



MACKENZIE COUNTY Page 2 of 4
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting
Thursday, May 4, 2017

None.

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE

MPC-17-05-061 MOVED by Beth Kappelar
That the terms of reference be received for information.
CARRIED

5. DEVELOPMENT

a) 074-DP-17 William Derksen
Shop Addition (Lean-to) (48'x20’)
Urban Fringe “UF” (La Crete)
Plan 992 6736, Block 01, Lot 01
(Part of SE 08-106-15 W5M)

MPC-17-05-062 MOVED by Jack Eccles

That Development Permit 074-DP-17 on Plan 992 6736, Block 01, Lot 01
in the name of William Derksen be APPROVED with the following
conditions:

Failure to comply with one or more of the attached conditions shall render
this permit Null and Void

1. Minimum shop setbacks:

a. 15.2 meters (50 feet) front (East) yard;

b. 15.2 meters (50 feet) side (North & South) yards; and

c. 15.2 meters (50 feet) rear (West) yard from the property
lines.

2. The Shop shall meet all Alberta Safety Code requirements and
any other requirements specified by Superior Safety Codes.
Failure to do so shall render this permit Null and Void.

3. This Shop is approved for personal purposes only and no
commercial activity is permitted in this building. If you require
the shop for a Business then you must apply for another
Development Permit and a Business License will be required.

4. The architecture, construction materials and appearance of buildings
and other structures shall be to accepted standards and shall
compliment the natural features and character of the site and the
aesthetics of the neighbouring residences to the satisfaction of the
Development Authority.

42



MACKENZIE COUNTY

Page 3 of 4

Municipal Planning Commission Meeting

Thursday, May 4, 2017

10.

Provide adequate off street parking as follows: The minimum parking
shall be 300 square feet per vehicle owned plus an additional 500
square feet for off street parking. “One parking space, including the
driveway area, shall occupy a minimum of 300 square feet.”

All sewage disposals shall conform to the Alberta Private Sewage
Systems Standard of Practice 2015.

This permit approval is subject to the access to the property
being constructed to County standards. PRIOR to installation of a
new access or changing location of existing access, complete a
Request for Access form by contacting the Operational Services
Department for Mackenzie County at 780-928-3983. Access to be
constructed at the developers’ expense.

No construction or development is allowed on or in a right-of-way. It is
the responsibility of the developer/owner/occupant to investigate the
utility rights-of-way, if any, that exist on the property prior to
commencement of any construction and to ensure that no
construction or development is completed on any utility right-of-way.

The total site area (lot) shall have a positive surface drainage without
adversely affecting the neighbouring properties.

The Developer shall at all times comply with all applicable Federal,
Provincial and Municipal legislation and regulations and County
Bylaws and resolutions relating to the development of the lands.

CARRIED

6)

SUBDIVISION

a) None

MISCELLANEOQOUS ITEMS

a) Action List
For Information
IN CAMERA
None

MEETING DATES

% Thursday, May 18, 2017 @ 10:00 a.m. in Fort Vermilion
% Thursday, June 8, 2017 @ 10:00 a.m. in La Crete
% Thursday, June 22, 2017 @ 10:00 a.m. in Fort Vermilion

43



MACKENZIE COUNTY Page 4 of 4
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting
Thursday, May 4, 2017

10. ADJOURNMENT

MPC-17-05-063 MOVED by Beth Kappelar

That the Municipal Planning Commission Meeting be adjourned at 10:17
a.m.

CARRIED

These minutes were adopted this 18" day of May, 2017.

John W. Driedger, Chair

44



Agenda ltem # 5. d)

REQUEST FOR DECISION

Meeting:

Meeting Date:

Presented By:

Title:

Regular Council Meeting

May 24, 2017

Grant Smith, Agricultural Fieldman

Agricultural Fair Committee Meeting Minutes

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

The minutes from the May 5, 2017 Agricultural Fair Committee meeting are attached.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

COMMUNICATION:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

VI  Simple Majority

[0 Requires 2/3

[0 Requires Unanimous

That the minutes from the May 5, 2017 Agricultural Fair Committee meeting be received
for information.

Author:

C. Sarapuk

Reviewed by:

CAO:

45




46



MACKENZIE COUNTY
AGRICULTURE FAIR & TRADESHOW COMMITTEE

PRESENT: Greg Newman
Josh Knelsen
Grant Smith
Colleen Sarapuk

Jennifer Batt
Jacquie Bateman

May 5, 2017
10:00 AM
Council Chambers
Fort Vermilion, AB

Chair

ASB Representative

Agricultural Fieldman

P.W. Administrative Officer/Recording
Secretary

P.W. Administrative Officer

High Level Agricultural Society

Heather Batt Fort Vermilion/Rocky Lane Agricultural Society
Andrew O’ Rourke Economic Development Officer
Jacob Marfo MARA Representative
Liane Lambert Fort Vermilion Ag Society
Wendy Ward Beaver First Nation Representative
Caitlin Smith Development Officer
Jessica Ruskowsky Executive Assistant to the CAO
Bill Driedger La Crete Agricultural Society
Abe Driedger La Crete Agricultural Society
Bill Friesen La Crete Agricultural Society
Doug Munn Director of Community Services
Minutes of the Agriculture Field Day, Fair & Tradeshow Committee meeting held on May 5,
2017
CALL TO ORDER: 1.a) Callto Order
Greg Newman called the meeting to order at 10:02 A.M.
AGENDA: 2.a) Adoption of Agenda

MOTION AF 17-05-016 Moved by Bill Friesen

That the agenda be adopted with the addition of 4.c) Volunteers;
4.d) Schedule of Events.

CARRIED

47



MACKENZIE COUNTY Page 2 of 4
Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow Committee
May 5, 2017

MINUTES: 3.a) Minutes of the April 5, 2017 Ag Fair Committee Meeting
MOTION AF 17-05-017 Moved by Eric Jorgensen

That the minutes of the April, 2017 Ag Fair Committee Meeting
be adopted as amended.

CARRIED
4. a) Sponsors
Viterra is the title sponsor for the Agricultural Fair; La Crete
Sawmills sponsored the Car Show and would like to see the
funds go towards trophies. Letters were sent out to business
outside the County that are in the Agriculture industry. Follow up
calls to business will commence shortly.

MOTION AF 17-05-018 Moved by Bill Neufeld
That the Sponsor discussion be received for information.

CARRIED

4.b) Task List Update

Task Assigned to: Comments/Notes

MARA Field Tours Jacob Marfo Main speakers have been
invited.

Tradeshow Andrew O’'Rourke Forms are being sent out.
Taking forms to local
tradeshow.

Children’s Activities Colleen Sarapuk will Contact the La Crete Christian

contact Russel Peters. Fellowship Youth Group, Have
a budget of $1000.00

Livestock Events Rocky Lane Ag Society Rocky Lane Ag will look after
livestock events

Industry Speakers MARA/ASB Started planning

Bench Show Fort Vermilion Ag Society Ready to print booklets. Will
print at the County office.

Petting Zoo La Crete 4-H They are willing to do the

petting zoo on the 12"..
Jennifer Batt will help find

animals.
Calf Scramble Rocky Lane Ag Society Rocky Lane Ag is looking after.
Increase budget to $400.00
Ultimate Farmer Challenge Grant Smith In progress
Silent Auction Jennifer Batt In progress
Moose & Goose Call Canadian Rangers In progress
Ultimate Bushman Canadian Rangers In progress

Challenge

48



MACKENZIE COUNTY

Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow Committee

May 5, 2017

MOTION AG 17-05-019

MOTION AG 17-05-020

Page 3 of 4

Car Show Gary Mclean Gary Mclean is willing to put on
the Car Show. Contact
Lakeside Auto to make
trophies.

Parade High Level Ag Society

Chicken Chariot Races

Colleen Sarapuk

Making the ramp shorter, and
setting it on a trailer. Barriers
will be set up to keep people
back.

Barn Dance Grant Smith, Colleen Gary Mclean would like to
Sarapuk submit a bid for the band.
Pancake Breakfast ASB Expecting 400 to 450 people.

Saturday Night Supper

High Level Ag Society

Same as 2016.

Site Setup

Public Works? Dave Fehr

Portable toilets are booked.

Krafters Korner

Liane Lambert

Waiting for people to commit

Dunk Tank Josh Knelsen/Bill Neufeld Contact MLA, Mayor of High
Level, and Chiefs to see if they
are willing to get dunked.

Wagon Rides Greg Newman Jake Juneau is willing to do

wagon rides, County will look
into insurance.

Chainsaw Carving

Jennifer Batt

Possibly putting on a workshop

Advertising

Andrew

Advertising at the High Level
Rodeo.

Sponsorship

Entire Committee- Caitlin
Smith taking the lead.

Caitlin Smith will email out the
sponsor package to the
committee members.

Aboriginal Displays

Doug Munn

Need space for 2 wall tents and
displays, 6 tee pees. Possibly
have a Tea Dance rather than
the Fiddle & Jigging
Competition.

Farm Safety Demo

Colleen Sarapuk

Talk to Farm Safety Centre

Fire Department Demo

Doug Munn

Fire Dept. has agreed to
provide a demo.

Tug-of-War

Grant Smith, Colleen
Sarapuk

6 person teams. 3 Categories;
Men, woman, & youth. Have
Tug of war at 6:00 PM on Aug
11.

Concessions

Colleen

Submitted event notification to
health inspector.

Master of Ceremonies (MC)

Liane Lambert

Brian Baldry is willing to MC
the event for $1300.00

Moved by Bill Neufeld

That $1000.00 be allocated to the Children’s Activities.

CARRIED

Moved by Jacob Marfo

That the Committee brings Wicked Willow Beds and Furniture by
Beau up for a Chainsaw carving workshop/Demo.

CARRIED

49




MACKENZIE COUNTY

Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow Committee

May 5, 2017

MOTION AG 17-05-021

MOTION AG 17-05-022

MOTION AG 17-05-023

SET NEXT MEETING
DATE

ADJOURNMENT

MOTION AF 17-05-024

Page 4 of 4

Moved by Jacquie Bateman

That the Agricultural Fair Committee hires Brain Baldry to MC the
event for both days.

CARRIED
4.c) Volunteers (Addition)
Moved by Josh Knelsen

That the discussion regarding Volunteers be received as
information.

CARRIED
4.d) Schedule of Events (Addition)

Moved by Josh Knelsen

That Jessica Ruskowsky draft a schedule of events in the format
presented to the Committee and bring back to the next meeting.

CARRIED
5.a) Next Meeting Date

The next Ag Fair Meeting will be held on June 7, 2017 at 10:00
AM in the Mackenzie County in Fort Vermilion.

6.a) Adjournment
Moved by Bill Friesen
That the Ag Fair Committee Meeting be adjourned at 11:15 AM.

CARRIED

These minutes will be presented for approval on June 7, 2017.

Greg Newman-Chair

Grant Smith, Agricultural Fieldman

50



Agenda ltem # 7. a)

REQUEST FOR DECISION
Meeting: Regular Council Meeting
Meeting Date: May 24, 2017
Presented By: Doug Munn, Director Community Services
Title: I/IEalc\;lr?EslTs Lake Campground Caretaker (11:00 a.m.)

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

Administration received a resignation letter from the Machesis Lake Campground
Caretaker on April 24, 2017 stating that they were unable to fulfill the contract which
expired at the end of the 2017 camping season.

Administration prepared and advertised the Request for Tenders in the Big Deal
Bulletin, on Mackenzie County’s website, and Mackenzie County’s Facebook page with
a closing date of May 23, 2017 at 4:30 pm to be opened May 24, 2017 11:00 am during
the Council meeting.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

N/A

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

2017 Operating Budget of $16,375 which includes a 25% bonus as per Policy COM001-
Parks Caretaker Bonus Policy.

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

N/A

Author: J Batt Reviewed by: D. Munn CAO:

51



COMMUNICATION:

Administration to communicate Council decision with all proponents.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Motion 1:
M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the Tenders for the Machesis Lake Campground Caretaker be opened.

Motion 2:
[0 Simple Majority M Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the Machesis Lake Campground Caretaker contract be awarded to the lowest
qualified proponent while remaining in budget.

Author:  J Batt Reviewed by: D. Munn CAO:

52



Agenda ltem # 7. b)

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting

Meeting Date: May 24, 2017

Presented By: Doug Munn, Director Community Services
TENDER

Title: Asbestos Abatement from a Two Story Office Building — Fort
Vermilion, AB (11:00 am)

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL:

As per the 2017 budget, Council approved the demolition of the MARA administration
building. As part of this removal, asbestos abatement is required.

Administration prepared and advertised the Request for Quotes in the Big Deal Bulletin,

and on Mackenzie County’s website, with a closing date of May 23, 2017 at 4:30 pm to
be opened May 24, 2017 11:00 am during Council meeting.

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

N/A

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

2017 Capital Budget of $80,000 which administration has allocated $50,000 for the
asbestos abatement, and $30,000 for the demolition and disposal of the building.

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

N/A

COMMUNICATION:

Administration to communicate Council decision with all proponents.

Author: J Batt Reviewed by: D. Munn CAO:

53



RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Motion 1:

M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the quotes for Asbestos Abatement from a Two Story Office Building — Fort
Vermilion, AB be opened.

Motion 2:

[0 Simple Majority M Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That the Asbestos Abatement from a Two Story Office Building — Fort Vermilion, AB
project be awarded to the lowest qualified bidder.

Author:  J Batt Reviewed by: D. Munn CAO:

54



Agenda ltem # 8. a)

REQUEST FOR DECISION

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting
Meeting Date: May 24, 2017
Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development

PUBLIC HEARING

Title: Bylaw 1066-17 Land Use Bylaw Repeal and Replace

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL.:

Mackenzie County awarded Green Space Alliance (GSA) the Land Use Bylaw Repeal
and Replace project in August of 2016. As part of the project, public engagement was a
critical element. There have been several opportunities for the public to be involved and
to ask questions or share their concerns. There has been minimal feedback provided by
the public.

GSA has reformatted the entire document and made it more readable and consistent.
The land use districts have been made more specific to each hamlet and less
ambiguous. The definitions have been cleaned up and clarified for a better
understanding of uses and all regulation within the definitions have been removed.

Before starting this project there were many issues identified by both Council and
administration that needed to be corrected. Some of the major highlights and
corrections are as follows:

e Tarp Shelters are now considered temporary with a 2 year permit and a limit on 2
extensions

Garage doors are now allowed to have a height of 15 feet for RV’s

Size restriction on Garage — Attached

3 hens are allowed per hamlet lot

Requirement for signage on rezoning applications

Apiary is a use (bees)

Stronger regulation for Home Based Businesses including separation between
minor and medium, size of business, hours of operation, allowable employees,
and 2 year expiry on permit

e Completion expiry on all permits 2 years from start date

Author: Reviewed by: CAOQ:

55



e FireSmart regulations which includes requirement to keep 10m surrounding all
structures free from trees, shrubs, and fine fuels.

e Tourist Home is now a use put in place to deal with short term online rentals

¢ Amalgamation of several zoning districts such as RCR, HCR, and MHS

e Created new zoning district Remote Recreation for all remote buildings and
specific to Carcajou

e DC2 zoning is delegated to MPC

¢ Integrated the Streetscape Design plans into the document for Fort Vermilion and
La Crete

After review with Council on April 13, 2017 this bylaw received first reading:

MOTION 17-04-290 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Wardley
That first reading be given to Bylaw 1066-17 being the Land Use
Bylaw for Mackenzie County as amended, subject to public

hearing input.

CARRIED

OPTIONS & BENEFITS:

Options are to pass, defeat, or table second reading of the bylaw.

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:

The final cost of the Land Use Bylaw still has to be determined. $100,000 allocated to
the project.

SUSTAINABILITY PLAN:

Strategy C6.2 Integrate FireSmart principles into all levels of the County’s
planning documents to ensure that all reasonable measures are taken to
reduce the risk of forest fires devastating a community.

COMMUNICATION:

Since the beginning there were several public engagement opportunities where each
session/open house had a low attendance. Each open house was advertised in the
local newspaper, Mackenzie County social media, and with posters in each community:

September 2016 — Open House in La Crete and Zama (All local developers were mailed
an invitation)

Author: Tracey Weller Reviewed by: Byron Peters CAO:

56



November 2016 — Focus Group Sessions (Invitation Only) and Open House in Fort
Vermilion (Local developers were mailed an invitation)

March 2017 — Open Houses in La Crete, Zama, and Fort Vermilion

April 2017 — La Crete Trade Show

May 2017 — High Level Trade Show

Public Hearing for May 24, 2017 has been advertised since May 3, 2017 in the local
newspaper (3 weeks).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Motion 1:
M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That second reading be given to Bylaw 1066-17, being the Land Use Bylaw for
Mackenzie County.

Motion 2:
M  Simple Majority [0 Requires 2/3 [0 Requires Unanimous

That third reading be given to Bylaw 1066-17, being the Land Use Bylaw for Mackenzie
County.

Author: Tracey Weller Reviewed by: Byron Peters CAO:

57



Mackenzie County
PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT
BYLAW 1066-17

Order of Presentation

This Public Hearing will now come to order at

Was the Public Hearing properly advertised?

Will the Development Authority , please outline
the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his
submission.

Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use
Bylaw Amendment?

Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land
Use Bylaw Amendment? If yes, please read them.

Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment?

If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s)
making their presentation?

This Hearing is now closed at

REMARKS/COMMENTS:

58



BYLAW NO. 1066-17
BEING A BYLAW OF MACKENZIE COUNTY
TO ADOPT A LAND USE BYLAW
FOR THE MACKENZIE COUNTY

WHEREAS: Section 639 of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, C. M-26, as
amended, states that every municipality must adopt a Land Use Bylaw; and

The Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw was prepared, public consultations were held,
and the bylaw was advertised; and

A public hearing shall be held on May 24, 2017 at 1:00 p.m. at the Fort Vermilion Council
Chambers, Fort Vermilion, Alberta.

NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF MACKENZIE COUNTY IN THE PROVINCE OF
ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. This Bylaw may be cited as the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw.
2. The document entitled “Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw”, attached to and
forming part of this bylaw as Schedule “A”, is adopted as the Mackenzie County

Land Use Bylaw.

3. This bylaw shall come into force and take effect upon the date of third reading by
Mackenzie County Council.

4. The adoption of this bylaw repeals and replaces Bylaw 791-10, and any
amendments thereto, in its entirety.

READ a first time this 13" day of April, 2017.

PUBLIC HEARING held this 24" day of May, 2017.

READ a second time this day of , 2017.

READ a third time and finally passed on this day of , 2017.
Bill Neufeld
Reeve
Len Racher

Chief Administrative Officer

59



60



DRAFT #4.
May 17", 2017

Adopted Month, Day, Year

61



62



63



64



A BYLAW OF MACKENZIE COUNTY IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, TO ADOPT
A LAND USE BYLAW.

WHERE AS the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000 - Chapter
M-26, current as of 2017 and Amendments thereto, authorize Council of a Municipality
to enact a Land Use Bylaw to guide future development within the Municipality.

NOW THEREFORE Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw No. 791-10 and amendments

thereto, except for those Direct Control Bylaws listed as continued in the bylaw, are
hereby repealed.

NOW THEREFORE Council of Mackenzie County in the Province of Alberta does
hereby adopt the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 this DATE day of DATE,
2017.

Read a first time April 13", 2017.
Read a second time DATE.
Read a third and final time DATE.

This Land Use Bylaw was prepared for Mackenzie County by Green Space Alliance.

Mackenzie County

65



1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6
1.7

2.1
2.2
2.3

3.1
3.2
3.3

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8

5.1
5.2
5.3

LI LR 1
PUIMDOSE ... e e e e e e 1
Y o] o] 11> 1] o SRR 2
EffeCtive Date ......ooeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeee e 2
Conformity with the BYIaw ..............uuueiiiiiiiiii e 2
Other Legislative and Bylaw Requirements.............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee, 2
LI 51 o o TP 2
INtErpretation ... 3
Imperial / Metric Measurements ............coovvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 3
D= 1T a1 o] 1 4
Bylaw AmMendmentS.........coooiiiiiiiie e 26
Bylaw Amendment Notification Requirements............cccccovvvvviiiiiiiiiiinnnnee. 27
Requirement of a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign ............. 28
Development AUthOrItIesS.........coovieiiie e 30
Development OffiCers ... 30
Development Officer Duties and Responsibilities ............ccccccceeeeiiieiiiiinnn, 30
Municipal Planning Commission Duties and Responsibilities.................... 31
(@010 o [o | ISP 31
Subdivision AUThOFIES ......ccooeeeiii i 31
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board.............cccccceeeieeeeiiiieiiiinn. 32
Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board .................... 32
Need for Development Permit ...........oooooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 34
Permits Not Required ... 34
Non-Conforming Buildings and USEeS...........cccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeee 35

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 ii

66



5.4
5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8
5.9
5.10
5.11
5.12
5.13
5.14
5.15

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8

8.1
8.2

Compliance Certificates.........ooovvviiiiiiii e 36

Development Permit Administration ... 37
T TS URPPPRRP 39
Decision on Development Permit Applications ............ccccooeiviiiiiiiiiieeinnnnnn. 39
Validity of Development Permits.............ooo 40
= =14 = | 40
VarianCe AULNOTILY .....ooooui e 41
Development Permit Conditions ..........coooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 42
Permit Approval and Notifications..............coooviiiiiiii e, 43
Resubmission INterval ... 44
Deemed RefUSal..........ouvueiiiiii e 44
Subdivision and Development Permit Appeals...........cveeeeiieeiiiieiiiininnnn. 44
Contravention and StOp Orders .........ooooevveeiiiiiiiii e 47
ProhibDItioONS ... e 48
NON-COMPLI@NCE ......coiieiiiee et e e e eeenns 49
Warning NOtICE .......oooii 49
Violation TICKETS ... e 49
RIght Of ENTrY ... 50
Offenses and Penalties............ouueiiiiii i 51
Subdivision Application Procedures .............ccccoieiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeee, 53
Subdivision and Development Referrals.............ccccvvveeiiiiiiiie i, 54
SubdiVISION DECISION .....oieeiiieeee e 55
SubdiVISION APPEAIS ... 55
Development AGreemMent ..........ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 56
RS T= o U 1= PP 56
RegISIration ........ccooiiii e 56
Subdivision ApProval PrOCESS ......ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiceee e 56
Access and DraiNage .........cooeeeeeiiieiiiiie e 59
ACCESSOrY BUIlAING ..o 59

Mackenzie County

67



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10
8.11
8.12
8.13
8.14
8.15
8.16
8.17
8.18
8.19
8.20
8.21
8.22
8.23
8.24
8.25
8.26
8.27
8.28
8.29
8.30
8.31
8.32
8.33
8.34
8.35
8.36

ANIMAIS .. ettt e ettt aeeeaaeee 60
ADIBIY e 61
Applicability of General Regulations ..............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicce e, 62
Bathroom Facilities ... 62
Building Demolition or Removal..............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeeeee 62
Building — Height, Design, Character and Appearance ..................cccceee. 63
BUIlding — MOVEd-IN ... 63
Building — Placement............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeieeeeeeeeeeeee e 64
Businesses — Drive-Through ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiii e 65
Businesses — Farm Subsidiary ...........ccooooeiiiiiiiiiiiii e 66
Confined Feeding Operations................uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiees 67
(@70 ] =T ol 1o ] £ 67
(O70] 1 =T [ ST PPPPPTPPR 68
Crown Land Transferred to Private Ownership..........cccccviiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn. 68
Dangerous GOOAS .........uuuuiiiiieeeiieeece e e e 68
D10 T o 11| €= S 68
Dwelling Units per Parcel..............oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 69
Easements / Rights-0f-ways ...........oouiiiiiiiiiic e 69
Engineering GUIdeliNES...........ccooiiiiiiiiiii e 70
Environmental Audits and Environmental Impact Assessments................ 70
Environmentally Sensitive Lands ... 71
FONCES ... 72
F100d Prone Lands ...........eiiiiiiiiieeeiiie e e e e e eeeeees 72
Garages Detached and Attached ... 74
GaArdeN SUILES. .. .uuiuiiiiiiiiiiiii e nnnnnnnnnne 75
Home Based Business Medium............ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiie e 75
Home Based Business MiNOr ............uiiiiiiiiiiic e 76
1180 010 =1 o o SRR 77
INAUSErIAl CamIPS... oo aaaaa 77
Landscaping, Screening and Sound Barriers ...........cccccevveeeiviiiiiieeeeeeeeenns 78
0] N 4 TSR 78
Manufactured HOMES .........ooiieiiiieeeeee e 79
Objects Prohibited or Restricted in Yards........cccoooovvviiiiiiiiiiiie, 79
Owner/Operator BUSINESS 1 ....coooiiiiieieeeeeeeeeee e 79

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 iv

68



8.37
8.38
8.39
8.40
8.41
8.42
8.43
8.44
8.45
8.46
8.47
8.48
8.49
8.50
8.51
8.52
8.53
8.54
8.55
8.56
8.57
8.58
8.59
8.60
8.61
8.62
8.63

9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5

Owner/Operator BUSINESS 2 ........uiiiieiieeeeeeee et 80

ParKing ....ceeeeeeeiiiiiiiieei e 80
Pressure Vessel StOrage ........coovvvviiiiiiiii i 83
Private Sewage Treatment Systems ..., 84
Projection over Yards ..........oooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 85
Public Utility Buildings and Easements...........c.ccooovviiiiiiiiiiiiicccieeeee 86
Recreational USES ..........uuuiiii e 87
Recreational VENICIES ... 87
Residential Sales Centre ............ooovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 87
Roads and HIghWaysS.........couuiiiiii e 90
SECONAAINY SUILES ... 90
Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Storage ..........ccccoooovviiiiiiiciieiece, 91
Setbacks from Gas and Oil Wells ... 91
Setbacks from Railway Right-of-way .............ccoo 92
Setbacks from Slopes and Waterbodies............cccooovviiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee, 93
Setbacks from Sour Gas Facilities..........ccccoeeeeeeeeee 94
SIS e 95
Shipping Containers — Storage USe .........ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiicee e, 97
Shipping Containers — Residential USe ..........ccccooooiiiiiiiiiiciieieeeeee, 99
SWIMMING POOIS ... 99
TarP SNEIREIS ..o e 100
TOPSOIl REMOVAL ... 100
TOUMST HOMES ..o 101
Township Road 1062 (88 Connector Road) Setback ...............cccoeeeee. 101
UnNsSightly Properties .........oooeueiiiiiiiie e 101
Waste Management Setbacks............oooooi 101
Wildland / Urban Interface Developments — Remote Areas..................... 102
e (10 LU= B PP 109
(o= 1V () PP 113
Rural Country Residential 1 (RCRT)...ccooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 115
Rural Country Residential 3 (RCR3).......cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeiieeeeeeeeee 119
Country Recreational (CREQC) ...........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 123

Mackenzie County

69



9.6 Rural Industrial Light (RIL)......cccoommmiiiieeeee e 125
9.7 Rural Industrial General (RIG) .........oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 129
9.8 ATFPOIT (AP) e 133
9.9 INSEEULIONAT (1) .eveeeee e 135
9.10 Recreation 1 (RECT) ..ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 137
9.11 Recreation 2 (REC2) ......uuiiiiieeeeeeeee et eeaans 139
9.12 Remote Recreation (RR) ........ooiiiiiiiiiicee e 141
9.13  Urban Fring€ (UF) ...oooeiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt 143
9.14  Direct Control 1 (DCT) ceeeeeiiie e 147
9.15  Direct Control 2 (DC2) .....oeveeeiiie e 149
9.16  Hamlet Country Residential (H-CR).......ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee 151
9.17  Hamlet Residential 1 (H-R1)....cccooiiiiiie e 153
9.18 Hamlet Residential 1A (H-R1A) ... 155
9.19  Hamlet Residential 1B (H-R1B) ......ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 157
9.20 Hamlet Residential 2 (H-R2).......cccooriiiimiieieee e 159
9.21 Manufactured Home Community (MHC)............ccccoiiiiiiiiieee e, 161
9.22  Manufactured Home Subdivision (MHS)...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee 165
9.23  Fort Vermilion Commercial Centre (FV-CC) .......ooovvviiiiiiiiiiieee e 167
9.24  Fort Vermilion Highway Commercial (FV-HC) ...........ccooooiiiiiii 173
9.25  Fort Vermilion Light Industrial (FV-LI)......coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee 177
9.26  Fort Vermilion Heavy Industrial (FV-HI) ... 179
9.27 La Crete Town Centre (LC-TC) ..o 181
9.28 La Crete Highway Commercial (LC-HC).......ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee 187
9.29 La Crete Main Street (LC-MS) ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 191
9.30 La Crete Light Industrial (LC-LI) .....ooovmmrieieee e 195
9.31  La Crete Heavy Industrial (LC-HI) .......coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeee 197
9.32  Zama City Industrial (Z-1) ......coeeeiiimiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 199
9.33 Zama City Mixed Us€ (Z-MU) .........ooirmriiiiee e 201
9.34  Zama City Residential (Z-R) .......ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 205
9.35 Zama City Residential-Business (Z-RB) ...........ccoovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiene. 209
Figure 1. Adjacent Lands.........cooooiiiiiiii i 4
Figure 2. Measurement of Building Height ... 6

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 Vi

70



vii

Figure 3. Dwelling - Apartment ... 9
Figure 4. DWelling - DUPIEX ..o 9
Figure 5. DWEllNG = ROW ....uiiiiiii et e e s 9
Figure 6. Dwelling - Single Family ...........ouviiiiiiii e 10
Figure 7. Dwelling - Stacked Row HOUSING ......cooooiiiiiiii 10
Figure 8. Internal Subdivision Road.............cccoooiiiiiiiiiiii e 15
Figure 9. Lot COVEIage........oovveeii et 16
Figure 10. LOt OPtioNS ... 16
Figure 11. Shipping ContaiNer...........ooomiiiiiiii e 22
Figure 12. Sight Triangle .........eeiiiiie e 23
Figure 13. Yard Setbacks .........oooo oo 25
Figure 14. Land Use Bylaw Amendment Sign Example ..........cccccceeeeiiiieiiiieiiinnnnnnn. 29
Figure 15. Subdivision Approval ProCesS ..........ccoovvuiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e 57
Figure 16. Sight Triangle Height Restriction ..., 68
Figure 17. Fence Height Regulations for Hamlets ..............cccccviiiiiiiieni, 72
Figure 18. FIood Hazard Area ............oi oo 73
Figure 19. Parking Standards ... 81
Figure 20. Projection OVer Yards ........cccooeiiiiiiiiiiiii et 86
Figure 21. Setback from Gas and OQil Wells..............ouviiiiiiiiiiiicceeeeeeeeee, 91
Figure 22. Reclaimed Well Work Area..........coooooeiiii 92
Figure 23. Setbacks from Slopes and Waterbodies.............ccccooeeiiiii, 94
Figure 24. Setback from Sour Gas Facilities ..............cccooieiiiiiiiiiicc, 95
Figure 25. Swimming Pool Regulations ..., 100
Figure 26. Wildfire Hazard Reduction Regulations.............cccooocciiiiiiiinicinnee, 103
Figure 27. Fort Vermilion Commercial Centre (FV-CC) Development Regulations

............................................................................................................................. 169
Figure 27. Building Facades Regulations .............cccooooiiiiiiiii e, 171
Figure 28. Doorway Recession Regulations.............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 171
Figure 29. Projecting Sign Regulations ... 172
Figure 30. La Crete Town Centre (LC-TC) Development Regulations ................. 183
Figure 31. La Crete Main Street (LC-MS) Development Regulations.................... 192

Schedule A. Hamlet Land Use District Maps
Map A. Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Land Use Districts

Mackenzie County

71



Map B. Hamlet of La Crete Land Use Districts
Map C. Hamlet of Zama City Land Use Districts
Schedule B. Rural Land Use District Maps

Appendix A Forms
Appendix B Development Agreement and Certificates
Appendix C Direct Control Districts

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 viii

72



1.1.1 This BYLAW shall be known as and may be cited as “Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw”.

1.21 The purpose of this BYLAW is to regulate the use and DEVELOPMENT of land and buildings
within the boundaries of the COUNTY to achieve the orderly and economic DEVELOPMENT of
land and to:

a. Divide Mackenzie County into LAND USE DISTRICTS;
b. Prescribe and regulate the use of land or buildings within each district;

c. Establish a method of making decisions on applications for DEVELOPMENT PERMITS
and the issuance of DEVELOPMENT PERMITS;

d. Provide the manner in which a notice of issuance for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT is given;
e. Establish the number of dwellings that may be allowed on a parcel;

f.  Establish regulations to assist in the SUBDIVISION and development decision making
process;

g. Establish procedures of appealing the decisions related to this BYLAW;
h. Establish general development standards and specific use regulations;
i.  Establish parking, signage, and landscaping standards; and

j-  Establish SUBDIVISION design standards.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 1

73



1.3.1

1.4.1

1.4.2

1.5.1

1.5.2

1.6.1

1.6.2

1.7.1

The provisions of this BYLAW apply to all lands and buildings within the boundaries of the
COUNTY, pursuant to Division 3 of Part 17 of the Municipal Government Act.

This BYLAW comes into force and takes effect upon the date of its third reading.

Land Use BYLAW No. 791-10 as amended is hereby repealed and replaced.

No person shall commence any DEVELOPMENT within the COUNTY except in conformity with
this BYLAW.

Compliance with the requirements of this BYLAW does not exempt any person or entity from the
requirements of any adopted statutory plan or federal or provincial regulation.

Nothing in this BYLAW affects the duty or obligation of a person to obtain a DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT as required by this BYLAW or to obtain any other permit, license or other authorization
required by this or any other BYLAW.

In addition to the requirements of this BYLAW, an applicant must comply with all federal,
provincial and other municipal legislation.

An application for a SUBDIVISION, DEVELOPMENT PERMIT or amendment to the Land Use
Bylaw commenced prior to adoption of this BYLAW shall be evaluated under the provisions of
the COUNTY’s Land Use Bylaw No. 791-10 as amended.

Mackenzie County

74



211 The terms defined in this Section have specific, broader or different meanings than the usage
and interpretation commonly found in the English dictionary, and thus, give rise to the need of
this Section. The meanings of all terms and vocabularies used in this BYLAW shall be
interpreted in accordance with the:

a. Municipal Government Act and the Statutes of Alberta to which this BYLAW refers;
b. Following Definitions; and

c. Common English dictionary in the event the above mentioned Section of Definitions is
silent.

2.1.2 Words used in the present tense include the other tenses and derivative forms; words used in
the singular include the plural and vice versa; and the word “person” includes a corporation,
firm, partnerships, trusts, and other similar entities as well as an individual. Words have the
same meaning whether they are capitalized or not.

2.1.3 The words “shall”, “must”, and “is” require mandatory compliance except where a variance has
been granted pursuant to the Act of this BYLAW.

214 All other words and expressions have the meaning respectively assigned to them in accordance
with the Act and any other applicable Statutes of Alberta. Where such words are not defined in
this BYLAW, or in the Act, the Development Authority shall make the interpretation.

2.21 Imperial measurements used within the BYLAW shall take precedence over all Metric values.
Metric measurements, shown in brackets are for reference purposes only.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 3

75



2.31 The following words, terms, and
phrases, wherever they occur in this
BYLAW have the meaning assigned to

them as follows:

A

ABATTOIR means a use or a building/facility
used for slaughtering animals (LIVESTOCK or
poultry) and may include processing, packing,
treating, storing and the sale of meat produced.

ABANDONED FARMSTEAD means a farmyard
which was once established and which currently
contains any or all of the following;

1. An abandoned DWELLING UNIT;

2. A developed potable water source;

3. An established sewage collection system;
4. An existing shelter belt; or

5. Any other features, which would at the
discretion of the Development Authority,
indicate a previous developed
FARMSTEAD.

ACT means the Municipal Government Act and
subsequent amendments thereto.

ABUTTING means immediately contiguous to
or physically touching, and when used with
respect to a LOT or site, means that the LOT or
site physically touches upon another LOT, site,
or piece of land, and shares a common property
line.

ACCESSORY BUILDING means a building
separate and subordinate to the PRINCIPAL
BUILDING, the use of which is incidental to that
of the PRINCIPAL BUILDING and is located on
the same PARCEL OF LAND. A GARAGE -
ATTACHED and GARAGE — DETACHED are
not considered an ACCESSORY BUILDING.

4 Mackenzie County

76

ACCESSORY USE means a use customarily
incidental and subordinate to the principal use of
a site and is located on the same PARCEL OF
LAND as the principal use.

ADJACENT means land that abuts a LOT or
site, and land that would abut a LOT or site if not
for a ROAD, LANE, walkway, watercourse, utility
LOT, pipeline right-of-way, power line, railway,
or similar feature as shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Adjacent Lands

ADULT ENTERTAINMENT BUSINESS means
a business operation lawfully permitted, which
principally caters to the provision of erotic
entertainment for persons 18 years of age or
older and which is operated either as a principal
or ancillary use. ADULT ENTERTAINMENT
BUSINESS includes but is not limited to the
following: an establishment for exotic dancing,
escort services, adult video/book/magazine
stores, retail sex shops selling sexual aids,
clothing and accessories, “topless” bars and
similar uses.

AGGREGATE RESOURCE EXTRACTION
means the extraction of raw materials, including
sand, gravel, or clay found on or under the
aggregate extraction-site and includes
reclamation of the site. Typical uses include, but
are not limited to quarries, borrow pits, and
gravel pit. AGGREGATE RESOURCE
EXTRACTION may include stripping of
TOPSOIL, stripping of sub-soil, overburden, and
loading and hauling of product on or off-site but
does not include AGGREGATE RESOURCE
PROCESSING, NATURAL RESOURCE
EXTRACTION or NATURAL RESOURCE
PROCESSING.



AGGREGATE RESOURCE PROCESSING
means the processing of raw materials,
including sand, gravel or clay. AGGREGATE
RESOURCE PROCESSING may include
crushing, washing and asphalt plant but does
not include AGGREGATE RESOURCE
EXTRACTION, NATURAL RESOURCE
EXTRACTION, or NATURAL RESOURCE
PROCESSING.

AGRICULTURAL MACHINERY SALES AND
SERVICE means a business operation designed
for selling and servicing farm implements and

supplying parts.

AGRICULTURAL SUPPLY DEPOT means a
facility that specializes in bulk storage and sale
of agricultural products or other farm supplies,
but does not include the sale and storage of
solid and liquid fertilizers.

AIRPORT see MUNICIPAL AIRPORT

APIARY means a development consisting of
beehives in which bees are kept or raised for the
production of honey.

AREA STRUCTURE PLAN means a statutory
plan, prepared and adopted pursuant to Section
633 of the Act, which addresses the future
DEVELOPMENT of large areas of land at a
conceptual level of detail.

ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY means an
institution primarily for persons where housing
accommodation is provided and medical or
supervisory care may be provided.

AUCTION FACILITY means a development
intended for the auctioning of LIVESTOCK,
goods and equipment, including the
TEMPORARY storage of such LIVESTOCK,
goods and equipment.

77

AUTOMOTIVE EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLE
SERVICES, MINOR means a development used
for the servicing and mechanical repair of
automobiles, light trucks, utility vehicles,
motorcycles, snowmobiles, and similar vehicles
and the sale, installation or servicing of related
accessories and parts. This includes
transmission shops, muffler shops, tire shops,
automotive glass shops, and upholstery shops.
Minor Automotive and Equipment Repair
facilities may operate a Minor Vehicle Wash as
an ACCESSORY USE.

AUTOMOTIVE EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLE
SERVICES, MAJOR means the servicing,
mechanical and body repair of automobiles,
trucks, farm machinery, RECREATIONAL
VEHICLES and heavy equipment, and the sale,
installation, servicing or storage of related
accessories and parts. This includes truck,
heavy equipment shops, body shops, and
RECREATIONAL VEHICLE repair shops.

AUTOMOTIVE SALES AND RENTAL means a
development used for the retail sale, rental or
lease of new or used automobiles,
RECREATIONAL VEHICLES and motorcycles,
together with incidental maintenance services
and sale of parts..

B

BARS AND NEIGHBOURHOOD PUBS means
development where the primary purpose of the
facility is the sale of alcoholic beverages to the
public, for consumption within the premises or
off the site. This use typically has a limited menu
and minors are prohibited from patronizing the
establishment during at least some portion of the
hours of operation. Typical uses include
neighbourhood pubs, bars, beverage rooms,
and cocktail lounges.

BASEMENT means that portion of a building
that is located wholly or partially below GRADE,
the ceiling of which does not extend more than
1.8m (6.0ft) above finished GRADE.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 5



BED AND BREAKFAST BUSINESS means a
commercial business that is an ACCESSORY
USE to the residential uses of a dwelling which
the occupant rents or leases a room or suites of
rooms on a temporary basis, and which may
include the provision of meals as part of or in
addition to the fee paid for the room or suites of
rooms. This does not include a MOTEL, HOTEL,
or SECONDARY SUITE.

BUFFER/SCREENING means an area where
trees, shrubs, hedges, berms, architectural
devices, walls, fences or other landscaping
features are provided for the purpose of
reducing adverse effects of the use(s) of land,
buildings or activities on an adjacent area,
property or use.

BUILDING DEMOLITION means the pulling
down, tearing down or razing of a building.

BUILDING HEIGHT means the vertical distance
between the GRADE and the highest point of a
building (shown in Figure 2), except those parts
that are not essential to the structure of the
building, such as a ventilating fan, skylight,
steeple, chimney, smoke stack, fire wall,
flagpole, or other similar elements.

Figure 2. Measurement of Building Height

BUILDING — MOVED IN means a residential,
commercial or industrial constructed building
that is to be relocated from one property to
another property.

BUILDING SUPPLY CENTRE means a
commercial retail establishment where building
materials, household accessories, and other
related goods are stored, offered, or kept for
sale and may include outside storage.

6 Mackenzie County

BUSINESS SUPPORT SERVICES means
development used to provide support services to
uses permitted or discretionary in a LAND USE
DISTRICT. Such businesses may be
characterized but not limited to the provision of
support functions such as:

1. Printing, duplicating, binding or photographic
processing;

2. Secretarial services;
3. Office maintenance or custodial services;
4. Security services;

5. Sale, rental, repair, or servicing of office
equipment, furniture and machines; and

6. Sale, rental, repair or servicing of
computers, cellular phones and fax
machines.

BULK FERTILIZER STORAGE AND/OR
SALES means a business operation that sells
chemicals, in bulk, used for increasing the
productivity of farm operations.

BULK FUEL STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION
means a development where refined or crude
oil, fuel, or liquid is stored outdoors using
storage tanks as regulated by the PTMAA and
includes the storage of dangerous/hazardous
substances, as defined by the Dangerous
Goods Transportation and Handling Act. The
development may include card-lock retail sales
and facilities for cleaning, blending or packaging
of bulk oil, fuel or chemicals, but does not
include manufacturing of any of these products.

BUNKHOUSE means a mobile residential
building that provides basic living facilities and is
used on a seasonal basis.

BUS DEPOT means a building and associated
facilities that provides passengers with facilities
to embark / disembark on / from buses, and / or
for the parking and storage of buses and related
equipment.



BYLAW means the Land Use Bylaw for
Mackenzie COUNTY that regulates the use of
land and buildings within the COUNTY.

C

CABIN means a small, roughly built house, or
hut used on a seasonal basis which does not
exceed 46.45m? (500.0ft%).

CAMPGROUND MINOR means a development
for short term recreational use with sites
designated for lodgings in tents,
RECREATIONAL VEHICLES, CABINS, or other
similar accommodations. A CAMPGROUND
MINOR shall accommodate no more than twenty
(20) sites, and be in operation no more than six
(6) months per year.

CAMPGROUND MAJOR means a development
for recreational use with sites designated for
lodgings in tents, RECREATIONAL VEHICLES,
CABINS, or other similar accommodations. A
CAMPGROUND MAJOR shall accommodate
more than twenty (20) sites, be in operation
more than six (6) months per year, or both.

CEMETERY means a PARCEL OF LAND that is
used as burial grounds, excluding
CREMATORIUM, and is licensed by the
appropriate Provincial Departments or Agencies.

CHANGE OF USE means changing a County
approved use of a building or lands to any other
use. Also see DEVELOPMENT.

COMMERCIAL SCHOOL means a development
used for classroom oriented training and
instruction in a specific trade, skill or service for
the financial gain of the individual or company
owning the school. Typical uses include
secretarial, business, hairdressing, beauty,
culture and dance or music schools.
COMMERCIAL SCHOOL does not include
industrial training facilities.

79

COMMERCIAL SCHOOL, INDUSTRIAL means
a development for training in an industrial trade,
skill or services for the financial gain of the
individual or company owning the school.
Typical uses include industrial training schools
that require the use of heavy equipment,
machinery and large vehicle parking areas for
training facility.

COMMUNICATION TOWER means a structure
and associated equipment that is used to
convey communication, radio or television
signals, and may include ancillary structures.

COMMUNITY PASTURE means the shared use
of land for grazing animals.

CONDOMINIUM UNIT means, in the case of a
building, a space that is situated within a
building and described as a unitin a
condominium plan by reference to floors, walls
and ceilings within the building.

In the case other than that of a building, a
CONDOMINIUM UNIT means land that is
situated within a LOT described as a unitin a
condominium plan by reference to boundaries
governed by monuments placed pursuant to the
provisions of the Surveys Act respecting
SUBDIVISION surveys.

CONFINED FEEDING OPERATION means
fenced or enclosed land or buildings where
LIVESTOCK are confined for the purpose of
growing, sustaining, finishing or breeding by
means other than grazing and any other building
or structure directly related to that purpose but
does not include residences, LIVESTOCK
seasonal feeding and bedding sites, equestrian
stables, auction markets, race tracks or
EXHIBITION GROUNDS. The Agricultural
Operation Practices Act shall define the
minimum size and number of a CONFINED
FEEDING OPERATION.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 7



CONTRACTOR, LIMITED means a
development used for the provision of electrical,
plumbing, heating, painting, catering and other
contractor services, and the accessory sales of
goods normally associated with the contractor
services where all materials are kept within an
enclosed building.

CONTRACTOR, GENERAL means a
DEVELOPMENT used for commercial and
industrial service support and construction.
Typical uses may include oilfield support
services, cleaning and maintenance contractors,
building construction, surveying, landscaping,
electrical, excavation, drilling, heating, plumbing,
paving, ROAD construction, sewer or similar
services of a construction nature which require
on-site storage space for materials, mobile
equipment or vehicles normally associated with
the contractor. Any sales, display, office or
technical support service areas are an
ACCESSORY USE to the principal use.

COTTAGE means a stick built detached
dwelling which is either moved-in or constructed
on site.

COUNCIL means the Council of Mackenzie
COUNTY.

COUNTY means Mackenzie County.

COUNTRY RESIDENTIAL means the use of
land in a rural area intended primarily for
residential purposes.

CREMATORIUM means a building used for the
cremation of deceased persons or animals.

D

DANGEROUS OR HAZARDOUS GOODS
means a product, substance or organism listed
in the Dangerous Goods Transportation and
Handling Act.

8 Mackenzie County

80

DAY CARE FACILITY means a
DEVELOPMENT used to provide care and
supervision, but not overnight accommodation,
for at least seven (7) children in accordance with
relevant legislation, nursery schools for children
under the minimum age for education in public
schools, playgroups for pre-school children, and
programs covering after-school care for school
children. Typical uses are day care centres and
nursery schools but does not include a private
babysitting facility.

DAY CARE HOME means a facility that
provides care for no more than six (6) children
operated in connection with a residential use,
where children’s care is offered by the resident
of the residential use. This category includes
facilities where children’s care is an
ACCESSORY USE to the primary residential
use. No overnight care is provided.

DECK means an unenclosed amenity area, of
wood frame or other construction, which may be
attached to a dwelling. The overall height of a
raised DECK is greater than 0.6m (2.0ft)
measured from the finished GRADE to the
underside of the supporting structure. A raised
DECK is deemed ACCESSORY to the
PRINCIPAL BUILDING.

DEVELOPMENT means:

1. An excavation or stockpile of earth and
creation of either of them;

2. A building or an addition to or replacement
or repair of a building and the construction
or placing of any of them on, in, over or
under land;

3. A change of use of land or a building or an
act done in relation to land or a building that
results in or is likely to result in a change in
the use of the land or building (also see
CHANGE OF USE); or

4. A change in the intensity of use of land or a
building or an act done in relation to land or
a building that results in or is likely to result



in a change in the intensity of use of the land
or building.

DEVELOPMENT OFFICER means a person or
persons appointed by the COUNTY pursuant to
Section 624 of the Act to administer the
provisions of this BYLAW.

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT means a document
permitting a DEVELOPMENT, issued by the
COUNTY pursuant to this BYLAW.

DISCRETIONARY USE means the use of land
or buildings where a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
may or may not be issued for certain purpose
that is permitted by the Development Authority
according to their discretionary judgment based
upon the merits of the application.

DISMANTLED / WRECKED VEHICLE means a
vehicle that is no longer licensed or in use and is
unfit for operation by virtue of its exterior or
mechanical condition.

DUGOUT means the excavation of lands
resulting in manmade features that entrap water
and includes excavations for a water supply and
borrow pits.

DWELLING — APARTMENT means a
residential building, containing individual suites
on multiple stories, consisting of four or more
DWELLING UNITS or one to three DWELLING
UNITS if the ground floor of such building is a
commercial use, having a shared entrance or
their own independent access as shown in
Figure 3.

Figure 3. Dwelling - Apartment

81

DWELLING - DUPLEX means a building that is
divided vertically into two DWELLING UNITS
side-by-side and separated from each other by a
common wall extending from the foundation to
the roof and not attached to any other residential
buildings as shown in Figure 4.

Figure 4. Dwelling - Duplex

DWELLING — GROUP HOME means a facility
that provides special care for individuals who are
in need of adult supervision, and that is licensed
by the appropriate public authority. A group
home located within a residential type LAND
USE DISTRICT or which is adjacent to a
residential LAND USE DISTRICT shall be
limited to six (6) persons excluding staff and
shall be located in a building designed as a
dwelling.

DWELLING — ROW means a minimum of three
DWELLING UNITS constructed in a row and
divided vertically by common walls, and each of
which has a separate entrance at ground level
as shown in Figure 5.

Figure 5. Dwelling - Row

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 9



DWELLING - SINGLE FAMILY means a
DEVELOPMENT consisting of only one
DWELLING UNIT which is separate from any
other DWELLING UNIT or building, as shown in
Figure 6, and which is supported on a
PERMANENT FOUNDATION or BASEMENT,
and which meets the requirements for a
residence as specified within the Alberta
Building Code.

Figure 6. Dwelling - Single Family

DWELLING — STACKED ROW HOUSING
means a dwelling that includes three (3) or more
DWELLING UNITS arranged two deep, either
vertically so that DWELLING UNITS are placed
over others, or horizontally so that DWELLING
UNITS are attached at the rear as well as at the
side. Each DWELLING UNIT shall have
separate and individual access, not necessarily
directly to GRADE, provided that no more than
two DWELLING UNITS may share access to
GRADE as shown in Figure 7.

Figure 7. Dwelling - Stacked Row Housing

10 Mackenzie County

82

DWELLING UNIT means a residential unit
containing one (1) or more habitable rooms that
provide living accommodations and is intended
as a permanent residence, as an ACCESSORY
USE, to a non-residential principal use.

E

EDUCATION FACILITY means a development
that is publicly supported and involves public
assembly for education, training or instruction
purposes, and includes dormitories and the
administration offices required for the provision
of such services on the same site. Typical uses
include, but are not limited to, public and
separate schools, community colleges,
universities, and technical and vocational
schools, but do not include COMMERCIAL
SCHOOLS.

EMERGENCY SERVICES FACILITY means a
development which is required for the public
protection of persons and property from injury,
harm or damage together with the incidental
storage of equipment and vehicles, which is
necessary for the provision of emergency
services. An EMERGENCY SERVICES
FACILITY may include provisions for overnight
accommodation as an ACCESSORY USE.
Typical uses include police stations, fire stations,
emergency medical services and ancillary
training facilities.

ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT,
INDOOR means a commercial development
providing recreational entertainment facilities
within a building such as movie theatres, billiard
parlours, electronic games arcades and bowling
alleys, but does not include gambling machine
establishments.

ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT means a
comprehensive site analysis to determine:

1. If there are any hazardous substances
above, on or below the surface of the
subject property that may pose a threat to
the environment and / or health of humans,
wildlife, and / or vegetation;



2. |If there are any breaches of federal,
provincial and / or municipal environmental
standards;

3. The level of risk that a contaminated site
poses to the environment and / or health of
humans, wildlife, and / or vegetation; and

4. What remedial actions may be required to
reduce the risk of contamination to an
acceptable level.

ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT REPORT means a
written document containing:

1. The result of an ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT;

2. A history of the subject property’s ownership
and use;

3. A description of the natural environment and
social environment surrounding the subject
property, which may be sensitive to
contamination;

4. Aninventory of all hazardous materials that
may have been handled or stored on the
subject property, including a review of on
and off-site disposal operations and
facilities;

5. A documentation of the existence, location
and use of above and under-ground storage
tanks and other related facilities;

6. A history of environmental regulatory activity
affecting the subject property;

7. Areview of the condition and use of
adjoining properties;

8. A completed sampling program to determine
type and level of contamination of soil,
groundwater, surface water, site facilities,
etc.;

9. A determination of the extent of
contamination; and

10. A comprehensive site and areas maps
noting the locations of natural and built

83

features and other elements of the site audit
as noted above.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
means a comprehensive site analysis to
determine:

1. The potential impact of the proposed
DEVELOPMENT site;

2. The potential environmental impact of the
proposed DEVELOPMENT upon the
adjacent properties or land uses; and

3. The potential environmental impact of the
proposed DEVELOPMENT upon the future
land use potential of property.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
REPORT means a written document containing
the result of an ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
ASSESSMENT.

ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE AREAS
means areas that fall in one or more of the
following categories or by a study undertaken or
commissioned by Mackenzie County:

1. Areas having exceedingly steep or unstable
slopes;

2. River valleys and lands, or those situated
close to lakes, watercourses, and other
types of WATER BODY, and land subject to
flooding;

3. Areas classified as having a high water
table, or situated on sensitive aquifers;

4. Areas having soils subject to erosion,
slippage, or subsidence of similar hazards;

5. Wetlands, unique wildlife, or fisheries
habitat, or those areas having high levels of
peat contents, or land incapable of meeting
percolation requirements; and

6. Areas having stands of unique or mature
nature vegetation or land features.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 1



ENVIRO - TANK means a self-contained tank
designed for temporary storage of fuel which
may include gasoline or diesel. An ENVIRO —
TANK does not include BULK FUEL STORAGE
AND DISTRIBUTION.

EQUIPMENT RENTAL FACILITY means a
commercial establishment principally involved in
the renting of equipment.

EXHIBITION FACILITY means areas that are
used for the public display of art objects,
industrial achievements, agricultural products,
merchandise, articles, skills, innovations or
information within a facility.

EXHIBITION GROUNDS means areas that are
used for rodeos, amusement rides, jamborees,
and other similar uses in outdoor open areas.

EXTENSIVE AGRICULTURE means those
agricultural operations producing crops or
LIVESTOCK that require large tracts of land but
does not include a CONFINED FEEDING
OPERATION.

EXTENSIVE RECREATIONAL USE means the
use of land for recreational activities that require
large tracts of land in a rural setting, having
natural physical features, conducive to hunting,
trail riding, all-terrain vehicle exercises, hiking
and other similar activities.

F

FARM BUILDING means any building,
excluding a DWELLING UNIT, SHOP — FARM
or buildings intended for use in a CONFINED
FEEDING OPERATION, intended to be used
directly for agricultural use.

FARM SUBSIDIARY BUSINESS means a
business carried out on a farm by the operator of
the same farm as a business, but subordinate to
the farming operation.

12 Mackenzie County

FARMSTEAD means a PARCEL OF LAND
containing a developed residence and related
improvements, such as barns, granaries,
corrals, shops, etc., which are normally
associated with a farm operation and has
existed for a minimum of ten years.

FLOOD FRINGE means the portion of the
FLOOD HAZARD AREA outside of the
FLOODWAY where water during a flooding
event is generally shallower and flows more
slowly than in the FLOODWAY.

FLOOD HAZARD AREA means the area
affected by a 100-YEAR FLOOD under
encroachment conditions. The FLOOD HAZARD
AREA is typically divided into FLOODWAY and
FLOOD FRINGE zones, and may also include
area of overland flow.

FLOODWAY means the portion of the FLOOD
HAZARD AREA that conveys water during a
flood event. In this area during flooding, water
flows are the deepest, fastest, and most
destructive. This area typically includes the main
channel of the body of water and a portion of the
adjacent overbank area.

100-YEAR FLOOD means a flood whose
magnitude has a one percent chance of being
equalled or exceeded in any year.

FLOOR AREA means the total FLOOR AREA of
every room and passageway contained in a
building but excluding the FLOOR AREA of:

1. BASEMENTS;

2. GARAGE -ATTACHED;

3. ACCESSORY BUILDINGS;
4. Open porches;

5. Patios;

6. Open DECKs;

7. Verandas; and

8. Breezeways.



FOREST BASED INDUSTRY means an
industrial operation that manufactures wood
products, and that may include storage yards,
lumber re-manufacturing facilities, oriented
strand board plants, pulp mills and sawmills.

FORESTRY BUILDING means a structure used
for the management of forest land.

FRAGMENTED PARCEL means a PARCEL OF
LAND that is separated from the balance of a
quarter section or from a river LOT by:

1. A natural watercourse;

2. Avrailway;

3. A graded public roadway or HIGHWAY;
4. An embankment; or

5. Other physical features, rendering the
subject parcel impractical, in the opinion of
the Development Authority, for farming or
grazing independently, or as part of a large
operation in conjunction with its
neighbouring land.

Legally, a FRAGMENTED PARCEL is
considered part of the quarter section it is
located within.

FUNERAL HOME means a place where
funerals are held and / or deceased persons are
kept or prepared for burial or cremation.

G

GARAGE means an ACCESSORY USE and
where a portion of the PRINCIPAL BUILDING,
including a carport, is used in conjunction with a
dwelling principally for the private parking or
storage of motor vehicles for personal
transportation and recreation. A GARAGE is not
a DWELLING UNIT.

GARAGE - ATTACHED means a GARAGE
attached to a PRINCIPAL BUILDING.

GARAGE - DETACHED means a GARAGE
that is not a part of the PRINCIPAL BUILDING.

85

GARDEN SUITE means a secondary
DWELLING UNIT detached from and located on
a PARCEL OF LAND on which there is already
a principal DWELLING UNIT located on the
same YARD, accessible by the same driveway.
A GARDEN SUITE is to only be ACCESSORY
to the principal DWELLING UNIT.

GOVERNMENT SERVICE means a
development providing Crown Corporation, or
municipal, provincial or federal GOVERNMENT
SERVICES directly to the public. Typical uses
include but are not limited to municipal offices,
taxation offices, courthouses, postal stations,
staffing and employment offices, school board
office, first nation services, health authority
office, and social service offices, which result in
a significant client visitation. It does not include
essential public services, correctional centres
and schools.

GRADE means the lowest of the average levels
of finished ground adjoining each exterior wall of
a building, except those localized, depressed
areas designed for accommodating vehicle or
pedestrian entrances.

GRAIN ELEVATOR means a structure that is
used for storing grain and is usually located in
such a manner to take advantage of a rail or
truck loading facility.

H

HAMLET means an area declared, by BYLAW,
by the COUNTY or designated by the Minister of
Municipal Affairs as a HAMLET.

HANGARS AND TERMINAL FACILITIES
means a development, which provides services
to aircraft, aircraft passengers and air freight
usually located adjacent to the runway. Services
provided within these facilities may include but
not be limited to airport operations and
administration, food and personal services,
freight and baggage handling, as well as aircraft
maintenance and repair.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 13



HEALTH SERVICE means a building or
structure where a professional health
practitioner(s), including but not limited to
doctors, dentists, optometrists, acupuncturists,
naturopaths, chiropractors, physiotherapists and
counsellors, excluding veterinarians, provide
diagnosis, mental health services, and treatment
to the general public without overnight
accommodations. Medical and health offices
include such uses as x-ray and other diagnostic
services as well as minor operating rooms and
uses accessory to the provision of medical and
health services.

HIGHWAY means a primary or secondary
HIGHWAY or proposed HIGHWAY that is under
the direction, control and management of the
Provincial Government pursuant to the Public
Highways Development Act.

HOME BASED BUSINESS MEDIUM means a
business owned and operated by the resident
residing on the site which may consist of an
office attached to the principal dwelling or within
the principal dwelling or within a shop.
Commercial vehicles associated with a HOME
BASED BUSINESS MEDIUM shall be restricted
to no larger than 2 tonnes. No large commercial
equipment such as log trucks, loaders,
excavators, bulldozers or tractor/trailer units
shall be allowed.

HOME BASED BUSINESS MINOR means an
occupation, trade, profession or craft carried on
by an occupant of a DWELLING UNIT on the
site and is considered as an ACCESSORY USE
to the residential or agricultural use of the
property, and does not change the character
thereof. The DWELLING UNIT shall not exceed
50% of the total FLOOR AREA. There shall be
no outdoor business activity or storage of
materials allowed on site.

14 Mackenzie County

86

HOSPITAL means an institutional development
used to provide in-patient and out-patient health
care to the public. Typical developments may
include a community health centre,
accommodation for the overnight care of
patients, eating establishments, offices and any
other uses which are accessory to the principal
use.

HOTEL means the provision of rooms or suites
in a commercial DEVELOPMENT for temporary
sleeping accommodation where the rooms have
access from a common interior corridor and may
be equipped with individual kitchen facilities.
HOTELS may include ACCESSORY food
services, meeting rooms, and PERSONAL
SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS.

INDUSTRIAL CAMP means a residential
complex used to house camp workers and may
include mobile residential units and eating,
recreational, and other basic, supportive
facilities, and meets the approval of all
applicable agencies.

INDUSTRIAL USE, GENERAL means the
manufacturing, processing, assembling,
cleaning, repairing, servicing, testing, storage,
warehousing, distribution or shipment of
materials, finished goods, products or equipment
primarily within an enclosed building and
involves limited outdoor storage. General
industrial use does not include uses listed under
HEAVY INDUSTRIAL.

INDUSTRIAL USE, HEAVY means the
manufacturing, processing, assembling,
cleaning, repairing, servicing, testing, storage,
warehousing, distribution or shipment of
concrete, asphalt, gravel, cement, lime, brick, tar
or forestry products that involves extensive
outdoor storage and / or preparation areas.



INTENSIVE AGRICULTURE 1 means a
commercial agricultural operation other than a
CONFINED FEEDING OPERATION that may
require large tracts of land. Without restricting
the generality of the foregoing, this use includes
greenhouses, market gardens, sod farms, and
WOODLOT MANAGEMENT, but shall not
include a DWELLING UNIT.

INTENSIVE AGRICULTURE 2 means a system
of tillage and animal husbandry from which one
may gain livelihood from proportionately small
areas of land by the concentrated raising of
crops or the concentrated rearing or keeping of
LIVESTOCK, or other products for market at
densities lower than that defined for
LIVESTOCK under Schedule 2 within the
Agricultural Operations Part 2 Matters
Regulations of the Agricultural Operations
Practices Act.

INTER-MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
means a statutory planning document that is
prepared and adopted, pursuant to the Section
631 of the Act, by Councils of Mackenzie County
and the Town of High Level or other
municipalities within COUNTY boundaries.

INTER-MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION
means a MUNICIPAL PLANNING
COMMISSION, appointed pursuant to the
Section 626 of the Act, shared between
Mackenzie County and Town of High Level, or
other municipalities within COUNTY boundaries.

INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND
DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD means a
joint board of individuals appointed pursuant to
Section 627 of the Act that hears SUBDIVISION
and DEVELOPMENT appeals, within the
INTER-MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
area.

INTERNAL SUBDIVISION ROAD means a
municipal ROAD that is developed solely to
provide legal and physical access to a MULTI-
LOT SUBDIVISION as shown in Figure 8.

87

Figure 8. Internal Subdivision Road

K

KENNEL means a premise where a number of
dogs and / or cats are maintained, boarded,
bred, trained, or cared for in return for
remuneration or kept for purposes of sale.

L

LAND USE DISTRICT means a zoning District
described in the text of this BYLAW and
delineated on one or more LAND USE
DISTRICT schedules, in which only certain land
uses may be allowed as either permitted or
DISCRETIONARY USES and in which specific
requirements must be satisfied before
DEVELOPMENT may proceed.

LANE means a public right-of-way, which
provides a secondary means of access to an
area that is registered in Alberta Land Titles.
Also see PUBLIC UTILITY LOT.

LIVESTOCK means poultry, bees, donkeys,
mules, oxen, birds, horses, cattle, sheep, swine,
goats, bison, specialty LIVESTOCK, and / or fur
bearing animals raised in captivity, sheep elk,
deer, wild boar, turkeys, ducks, geese and game
production animals within the meaning of the
LIVESTOCK Industry Diversification Act.

LOT means a:

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 15



1. Quarter section of land;

2. River lot or settlement lot shown on an
official plan, that is referred to in the Surveys
Act, and is lodged in Alberta Land Titles;

3. Part of a parcel where the boundaries of the
part are separately described in a certificate
of title other than by reference to a legal
SUBDIVISION; or

4. Part of a parcel where the boundaries of the
part are described in a certificate of title by
reference to a plan of SUBDIVISION.

LOT — CORNER means a LOT that abuts two or
more public roads which intersect at an angle
not exceeding 135 degrees and creates two or
more frontages as shown in Figure 10.

LOT COVERAGE means the percentage of a
LOT area that is covered by all buildings on the
same LOT excluding the area covered by
balconies, canopies, DECKs and the like as
shown in Figure 9.

Figure 9. Lot Coverage

16 Mackenzie County

88

LOT DEPTH means the length of a straight-line
that joins the middle of the front LOT LINE with
the middle of the rear LOT LINE as shown in
Figure 10.

LOT - INTERIOR means any LOT other than a
CORNER LOT.

LOT LINE means a legally defined property line
of a LOT.

LOT LINE — FRONT means the boundary
dividing the LOT from an abutting public
roadway. In the case of a CORNER LOT the
shorter LOT LINE shall be the front LOT LINE as
shown in Figure 10.

LOT LINE — REAR means the LOT LINE that is
opposite to the front LOT LINE as shown in
Figure 10.

LOT LINE - SIDE means the LOT LINE other
than a front or rear LOT LINE.

LOT — THROUGH means a LOT, other than a
CORNER LOT, having access to two streets.

LOT WIDTH means the average horizontal
measurement between the LOT LINE — SIDE as
determined by the Development Authority as
shown in Figure 10.

Figure 10. Lot Options



MANUFACTURED HOME - MOBILE means a
dwelling that is constructed with a heavy
transport chassis that allows for the permanent
or temporary attachment of a hitch and wheel
assembly to enable the relocation of the
dwelling. A MANUFACTURED HOME - MOBILE
may be a single structure (single-wide) or two
(2) parts which when put together (double-wide)
comprise a complete dwelling.

MANUFACTURED HOME - MODULAR means
a dwelling which is prefabricated or factory built,
and which is assembled on the parcel in
sections, but such sections or units have neither
chassis, running gear, not its own wheels, and
the sections may be stacked vertically, or placed
side-by-side and is similar in appearance and
profile to a conventional home. This does not
include a DWELLING — SINGLE FAMILY,
MANUFACTURED HOME — MOBILE or
RECREATIONAL VEHICLE.

MANUFACTURED HOME COMMUNITY means
a PARCEL OF LAND, under a single ownership
for accommodating manufactured homes on
LOTS, which are rented by the park operator to
individuals.

MANUFACTURED HOME COMMUNITY
FACILITY means an office responsible for the
management, provisions of utilities,
improvements of facilities, and maintenance of
amenities of a MANUFACTURED HOME
COMMUNITY and may include a common
laundry facility, indoor/outdoor storage area and
a residence for the park manager.

MANUFACTURED HOME SALES AND
SERVICE means a business operation for
selling and servicing manufactured homes.

MANUFACTURED HOME SUBDIVISION
means a registered SUBDIVISION where
manufactured homes are permitted on LOTS
owned by individuals, and where the
responsibility of property maintenance rests with
individual LOT owners.

89

MANUFACTURING, MAJOR means the
production and assembling of goods, products,
or equipment whose activities are carried on
within an enclosed building and / or outdoors on
the site and create nuisance factors that are
incompatible with non-heavy industrial land
uses.

MANUFACTURING, MINOR means the
assembling of goods or products whose
activities are primarily carried on within an
enclosed building and no nuisance factor is
created or apparent outside of the building.

MOTEL means a DEVELOPMENT divided into
self-contained sleeping or DWELLING UNITS,
each with a separate exterior entrance and
convenient access to on-site parking. MOTELS
may include food services, meeting rooms, and
PERSONAL SERVICE ESTABLISHMENT.

MULTI - LOT COUNTRY RESIDENTIAL
means the use of land for two or more adjacent
residential LOTS in a rural area.

MUNICIPAL AIRPORT means:

1. Any area of land or water, including frozen
surfaces thereof, or other supporting surface
used or intended to be used either in whole
or in part for the arrival and departure and
servicing of aircrafts; and

2. Includes any building, installation or
equipment in connection therewith, operated
by the Department of National Defence or
for which an airport license has been issued
by Transport Canada.

3. For the purpose of this BYLAW, MUNICIPAL
AIRPORT also means the airport facilities
known as the High Level Airport, Fort
Vermilion Airport, La Crete Airport, and
Zama Airport.

MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN means the
Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan
adopted by COUNCIL inaccordance with
Section 632 of the Act.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 17



MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION means
Mackenzie County’s MUNICIPAL PLANNING
COMMISSION appointed pursuant to Section
626 of the Act.

MUNICIPALITY means Mackenzie County.

MUSEUM means a place or building in which
works of artistic, historical, archaeological, and
scientific value are cared for and exhibited.

N

NATURAL RESOURCE EXTRACTION means
the extraction of natural resources, including oil
and gas, peat, metallic minerals, non-metallic
minerals (such as coal, limestone, gypsum,
granite and salt) and reclamation of the site, but
does not include aggregate resources (such as
sand, gravel or clay). NATURAL RESOURCE
EXTRACTION may include the Stripping of
TOPSOIL, overburden, loading and hauling of
product off-site but does not include processing
of natural resources.

NATURAL RESOURCE PROCESSING means
the processing of natural resources, including,
oil and gas, peat, metallic minerals, non-metallic
minerals (such as coal, limestone, gypsum,
granite and salt) but does not include
AGGREGATE RESOURCE EXTRACTION,
AGGREGATE RESOURCE PROCESSING or
NATURAL RESOURCE EXTRACTION.

NON-CONFORMING BUILDING OR USE
means a building or use which exists but not
permitted in the LAND USE DISTRICT in which
the said building or use is situated, or for which
a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has not been
approved.

O

OIL AND GAS FACILITIES means the facilities
used for the extraction, processing or
manufactured of oil and gas products.

18 Mackenzie County

90

OILFIELD SERVICE means a development that
provides cleaning, servicing, repairing or testing
of materials, goods and equipment normally
associated with the oil and gas industry and may
include the storage or shipping of such
materials, goods and equipment, including
petrochemical products and supplies provided
such storage is in accordance with all applicable
provincial and federal statutes. This definition
applies to oil and gas industry support
operations and includes, but is not limited to,
seismic and surveying, well servicing, pipeline
contractors and welding operations.

OWNER/OPERATOR BUSINESS 1 means a
business owned and operated by the resident
residing on the site which may consist of
equipment such as a log truck, gravel truck,
loader, excavator, skid steer, and the equipment
required to haul it.

OWNER/OPERATOR BUSINESS 2 means a
business owned and operated by the resident
residing on the site which may consist of an
office attached to the principal dwelling or within
the principal dwelling or within a shop.

P

PARCEL OF LAND means the aggregate of the
one or more areas of land described in a
certificate of title or described in a certificate of
title by reference to a plan filed or registered in a
land titles office.

PARK means land designated as PARK,
campground or recreational area by COUNCIL.

PARK MODEL means a recreational unit that is
meant for seasonal use and conforms to the
Canadian Standards Association standard Z-240
for RECREATIONAL VEHICLES and the Alberta
Building Code. A PARK MODEL may only be
permitted if its appearance reasonably
complements surrounding structures as
demonstrated by the quality and exterior
finishing being similar in design and materials.



PERMANENT FOUNDATION means a structure
constructed or erected with a fixed location on
the ground or attached to something having a
fixed location on the ground with a foundational
system or arrangement composed of, but not
limited to footing, raft, or pole, and may include
walls, light standards, fences and SIGNS, and
renders the structure fixed and immovable.

PERMITTED USE means the use of land or
building, which is listed in the column, captioned
PERMITTED USE in most LAND USE
DISTRICTS appearing in this BYLAW and for
which a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT shall be
issued upon an application having conformed to
the provisions of this BYLAW. In addition, a
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application shall be
approved if the conditions of approval ensure
that the DEVELOPMENT would conform to the
provisions of this BYLAW.

PERSONAL SERVICE ESTABLISHMENT
means a development where personal services
related to the care and appearance of the body,
or the cleaning and repair of personal effects are
provided to individuals. PERSONAL SERVICE
ESTABLISHMENTS include, but are not limited
to, barbershops, hairdressers, beauty salons,
tailors, dressmakers, shoe repair shops, dry
cleaners, and laundromats.

PETROLEUM FACILITY means petroleum
infrastructure such as oil / gas pipelines, gas
plants, refinery, well battery, and compressor
stations.

PLACE OF WORSHIP means a development
used by a religious organization for worship and
related religious, philanthropic, or social
activities including rectories, manses, and
accessory buildings. Typical uses include
churches, chapels, mosques, temples,
synagogues, parish halls, convents and
monasteries, and any uses which are accessory
to the principal use.

PRESSURE VESSEL STORAGE means a
closed container designed to store gases or
liquids at a pressure different from the ambient
pressure.

91

PRINCIPAL BUILDING means a building where
the main or principal use of the site is
conducted.

PRIVATE CLUB means an indoor development
used for the meeting, social, or recreational
activities of members of a philanthropic, social
service, non-profit, athletic, business or fraternal
organization. PRIVATE CLUBS may include
rooms for eating and general assembly.

PROFESSIONAL, FINANCIAL, OFFICE AND
BUSINESS SERVICE means a development
primarily used for the provision of professional,
management, administrative, consulting, and
financial services. Typical uses include the
following and similar uses as offices of lawyers,
accountants, engineers, planners, and
architects; offices for real estate and insurance
firms; clerical, secretarial, employment,
telephone answering, and similar office support
services; banks, credit unions, loan offices and
similar financial uses; printing establishments,
film processing establishments, janitorial firms
and business equipment repair shops.

PUBLIC UTILITY means a development used to
provide one or more of the following for public
consumption, benefit, convenience or use;
water; wastewater or storm water; public
transportation operated by or on behalf of the
COUNTY; communication; drainage ditch;
natural gas; electric power; or heat. It includes
buildings required to operate a PUBLIC
UTILITY.

PUBLIC UTILITY LOT means a LOT registered
with Alberta Land Titles as a PUBLIC UTILITY
LOT and intended for the purpose of utility
installation. Also see LANE.

R

RANGER CABIN AND STATION see
FORESTRY BUILDING.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 19


http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pressure

RECREATION SERVICE, INDOOR means
facilities within an enclosed building for sports,
active recreation and performing and cultural
arts. Typical uses include but are not limited to
arenas, riding arenas, curling rinks, athletic
clubs, health and fitness clubs, gymnasiums,
swimming pools, rifle ranges, bowling alleys,
and racquet clubs. This does not include gaming
facilities.

RECREATION SERVICE, OUTDOOR means
development providing facilities for sports and
active recreation conducted outdoors. Typical
facilities include, but are not limited to golf
courses, miniature golf establishments, driving
ranges, ski hills, ski jumps, sports fields, outdoor
tennis courts, unenclosed ice surfaces or rinks,
boating facilities, Scout/Guide camps, religious
outdoor retreat camps and parks, paint ball
parks, motocross tracks, riding arenas, and trail
stables/riding.

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE means a portable
structure or vehicle designed as a TEMPORARY
accommodation for travel, vacation, or
recreation, including motor home, fold down
camping trailer, truck camper, or fifth wheel
travel trailer but does not include a
manufactured home.

RECYCLING DEPOT means a development
where bottles, cans, newspapers, and similar
non-hazardous household goods are bought,
sold, and temporarily stored for reuse, or
dropped off or delivered by the public or by a
contractor, or collected for recycling, and where
all storage is contained within an enclosed
building or an enclosed compound.

20 Mackenzie County

92

REGISTERED OWNER means:

1. The Minister responsible for the
administration of land, in the case of land
owned by the Crown in Right of Alberta or
the Crown in Right of Canada; or

2. The purchaser of a fee simple estate,
registered against the certificate of title in
the land, or any assignee of the purchaser’s
interest that is the subject of a caveat
registered against the certificate of title; or

3. The person registered under the Province of
Alberta Land Titles Act as the owner of the
fee simple estate in the land, in the absence
of a person described in (b) above.

RENOVATIONS — MAJOR means any
STRUCTURAL ALTERATION to an existing
building which includes enlarging or adding to
the building and the enlargement of windows
and/or doors.

RENOVATIONS — MINOR means any changes
to an existing building such as changing non-
weight bearing walls and routine maintenance
which includes shingles, siding and the
replacement of same sized windows and/or
doors.

RESIDENTIAL SALES CENTRE means a
permanent or TEMPORARY building or
structure used for a limited period of time for the
purpose of marketing residential land or
buildings.

RESTAURANT means a development where
the primary purpose of the facility is the sale of
prepared foods to the public, for consumption
within the premises or off the Site. Minors are
never prohibited from any portion of the
establishment at any time during the hours of
operation. This use typically has a varied menu,
with a fully equipped kitchen and preparation
area, and includes fast food and family
RESTAURANTS.



RETAIL - CONVENIENCE means a
development used for the retail sale of those
goods required by area residents on a day-to-
day basis in an enclosed building. Typical uses
include small food stores, drug stores, video
sales and rentals, and variety stores selling
confectionery, tobacco, groceries, beverages,
pharmaceuticals, and personal care items,
hardware or printed matter.

RETAIL GARDEN CENTRE means a use
where gardening products, plants, seeds,
shrubbery, trees and other gardening related
products are sold to the public from a permanent
or TEMPORARY structure, or specifically
identified outdoor areas for the storage, display
and sale of plants and products.

RETAIL — GENERAL means a development
used for the retail sale of groceries, beverages,
household goods, furniture and appliances,
clothing, home improvement supplies, garden
supplies, printed matter, confectionery, tobacco,
pharmaceutical and personal care items,
automotive parts and accessories, office
equipment, stationery and similar goods from
within an enclosed building.

RETAIL — LIQUOR means a store that sells
alcoholic beverages and products for
consumption outside the store premises.

RIFLE/SKEET RANGE means an area or
building where the controlled use of firearms is
permitted for the purpose of target practice.

ROAD means land shown as a ROAD on a plan
of survey that has been registered at Alberta
Land Titles, or used as a public ROAD, and
includes a bridge forming part of a public ROAD
and any structure incidental to a public ROAD,
but does not include a HIGHWAY.

S

SALVAGE YARD means a facility for the
storage, processing, or trans-shipment of
derelict vehicles, machinery, scrap metal, and
similar materials for sales.

93

SATELLITE DISH AND ANTENNAE means a
device that is designed for receiving
communications or other signals from orbiting
satellites and/or an amplifier designed for
receiving, magnifying and transferring signals.

SCREENING means a vertical physical barrier
constructed out of typical building materials used
for purposes of containment or to prevent
unauthorized access, which serves as a visual
screen.

SECONDARY SUITE means one additional
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT which includes
cooking facilities and is created in the
DWELLING UNIT or GARAGE — DETACHED
and intended for TEMPORARY or long-term
residency by a tenant. A SECONDARY SUITE
shall have a separate entrance directly from the
outside or through a common area inside, or
both.

SELF-STORAGE 1 means a use where goods
are stored in a building on a small scale; where
the building is made up of separate
compartments and each compartment has
separate access that may be available to
individuals for the storage of personal items. A
SELF-STORAGE 1 facility may also include the
administrative functions associated with the use;

SELF-STORAGE 2 means a use where goods
are stored in a building on a large scale; where
the building is made up of separate
compartments and each compartment has
separate access that may be available to
individuals for the storage of personal items.
Storage of items such as RVs and boats, either
indoors or outdoors, is permitted within this
facility. A SELF-STORAGE 2 facility may also
include the administrative functions associated
with the use.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 21



SERVICE STATION — MAJOR means a
development that caters to large commercial
vehicles such as semi-trucks and trailers as well
as intermediate sized vehicles and passenger
vehicles. This use may include a
RESTAURANT, BULK FUEL STORAGE AND
DISTRIBUTION, vehicle towing services,
MOTEL, HOTEL and similar uses provided that
these are ACCESSORY to the operation of a
SERVICE STATION — MAJOR.

SERVICE STATION — MINOR means a
development used for retail sales of vehicular
fuels, tires, batteries and similar accessories,
and includes minor servicing and washing of
vehicles. This use may include RETAIL -
CONVENIENCE, vehicle towing services as
ACCESSORY USES.

SEWAGE STORAGE TANK means a holding
unit used for storing sewage.

SHARED PARKING means a site’s parking
supply may service more than one use on the
site. The total supply of parking spaces may be
less than the sum of the total BYLAW parking
requirement for all uses on the site and may
occur through the proponent providing detailed
information and analysis of one or more uses on
the site having different individual peak demand
times; employees / customers of one use on the
site utilizing another use on the site; a customer
coming to several different uses on the site;

SHIPPING CONTAINER means a steel shipping
container for use accessory to the PRINCIPAL
BUILDING / use as shown in Figure 11.

22 Mackenzie County

94

Figure 11. Shipping Container

SHOP — COMMERCIAL means a structure
intended for the use of commercial or industrial
type DEVELOPMENT but does not include a
SHOP — FARM.

SHOP - FARM means a structure intended to
store or maintain farm equipment but does not
include a DWELLING UNIT, FARM BUILDING,
GARAGE - DETACHED, SHOP —
COMMERCIAL, SHOP — PERSONAL or
buildings for use in CONFINED FEEDING
OPERATIONS or a barn. This does not include
commercial or industrial uses.

SHOP — PERSONAL means an accessory
structure on a residential property intended for
personal use.

SIGN means an object, structure or device used
for the purpose of identification or advertising or
to call attention to any person, matter, thing or
event or to give direction.

SIGHT TRIANGLE means the triangle formed
by a straight line drawn between two points, one
located along a front LOT LINE and the second
along a side LOT LINE at a distance of 7.6m
(25.0ft) from the point where the LOT LINES
intersect as shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Sight Triangle

SPARK ARRESTER means a device which
prevents the emission of flammable debris from
combustion sources, such as internal
combustion engines, fireplaces, and wood
burning stoves.

STRUCTURAL ALTERATION means the
construction or reconstruction of supporting
elements of a building or other structure.

SUBDIVISION means the division of a parcel of
land into one or smaller parcels by a Plan of
Subdivision registered with Alberta Land Titles.

SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL
BOARD means a board of individuals,
appointed pursuant to Section 627 of the Act,
that hears SUBDIVISION and DEVELOPMENT
appeals and renders a decision.

T

TARP SHELTER means a building designed
and constructed with a rigid frame that supports
an exterior fabric covering and may also include
some rigid exterior wall panels containing
windows and/or doors.

95

TEMPORARY means a use or building which
occurs from the date of the DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT approval for a length of time as
specified in the permit approval by the
Development Authority.

TEMPORARY/PORTABLE UNIT means non-
permanent structure which may include portable
classrooms and well site units.

TOPSOIL means the surface layer of soil which
is usually organic.

TOURIST HOME means a dwelling unit
operated as a TEMPORARY place to stay, with
or without compensation, and includes all
vacation rentals of a dwelling unit. The
characteristics that distinguish a TOURIST
HOME from a dwelling unit used as a residence
may include any of the following:

1. The intent of the occupant to stay for short-
term vacation purposes rather than use the
property as a residence;

2. The commercial nature of a TOURIST
HOME;

3. The management or advertising of the
dwelling unit as a TOURIST HOME or “
vacation property”; or

4. The use of a system of reservations,
deposits, confirmations, credit cards or other
forms of electronic payment.

TOURIST INFORMATION FACILITY means a
facility whose primary function is to provide
information on roads, directions, attractions,
accommodations, or other tourist-related
materials.

U

UNSIGHTLY CONDITION means:

1. A structure whose exterior shows signs of
significant physical deterioration;

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 23



2. Land that, in the opinion of the Development
Authority, shows signs of serious disregard
for general maintenance or upkeep; and

3. Any other definition pursuant to the
Unsightly Premises Bylaw as updated from
time to time.

UNSUBDIVIDED LAND means a quarter
section, lake LOT, river LOT or settlement LOT
that has not been subdivided except for public
use.

Vv

VETERINARY CLINIC means a business
establishment where medical care and treatment
of animals are provided by licensed veterinarian
and other supportive staff, and may include a
KENNEL and/or compound.

W

WAREHOUSE means the use of a building for
storage of merchandise or commodities, and
may include an office space and ancillary retail
sales.

WASTE MANAGEMENT means a site used
primarily for the storage, processing, treatment
and disposal of solid and liquid wastes, which
may have adverse environmental impact on
sites either abutting or in the vicinity by virtue of
potential emissions and appearance. Typical
uses include sanitary landfills, garbage transfer
and compacting stations, facilities for the
recycling of materials (excluding RECYCLING
DEPQTs), incinerators, sewage lagoons and
similar uses.

WASTE TRANSFER STATION means a place
where specified waste is temporarily stored and
later transported to other location for disposal in
a regional landfill.

24 Mackenzie County

96

WATER BODY means any location where water
flows or is present, whether or not the flow or the
presence of water is continuous, intermittent or
occurs only during a flood, and includes but is
not limited to wetlands and aquifers but does not
include part of an irrigation works if the irrigation
works is subject to a licence and the irrigation
works is owned by the licensee, unless
regulations specify that the location is included
in the definition of a WATER BODY.

WATER STORAGE TANK means a holding unit
used for storing water.

WOODLOT MANAGEMENT means the
activities related to the management of wooded
areas that are purposely designated and
restricted for growing and harvesting trees for
commercial use.

Y

YARD means the part of a parcel of land not
covered by buildings, excluding land used for
agricultural use.

YARD - EXTERIOR SIDE means a side yard
immediately adjoining a public roadway as
shown in Figure 13.

YARD - FRONT means a yard extending across
the full width of a LOT, and situated between the
front LOT LINE and the nearest exterior wall of
the PRINCIPAL BUILDING. The minimum front
yard depth is the shortest horizontal distance
permitted between the front LOT LINE of such
LOT and the nearest part of the PRINCIPAL
BUILDING as shown in Figure 13.

YARD - INTERIOR SIDE means a side yard
other than an exterior side yard as shown in
Figure 13.



YARD - REAR means a yard extending across
the full width of a LOT and situated between the
rear LOT LINE and nearest exterior wall of the
PRINCIPAL BUILDING. The minimum rear yard
is the shortest distance permitted between the
rear LOT LINE of such LOT and the nearest part
of the PRINCIPAL BUILDING as shown in
Figure 13.

Figure 13. Yard Setbacks

YARD SETBACK means the required distance
from the property line to the nearest point of an
exterior wall of the building

YARD SITE DEVELOPMENT means the
DEVELOPMENT of a site with the intention of
preparing it for a residence and may include the
installation of power, phone, private sewer
system, water supply and landscaping.

97

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17

25



3.11

3.1.4

26

A BYLAW amendment application shall be made to the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER on the
prescribed form and shall be signed by the applicant or their agent.

All applications to amend this BYLAW shall be accompanied by a statement of the reasons for
the amendment.

If the amendment involves the re-designation of land to a different LAND USE DISTRICT, the
application shall contain:

a. A certificate of title for the subject property;

b. Written consent of the registered landowner where the applicant is not the owner of the
land affected by the application;

c. A statement indicating the proposed use of the subject property;

d. A properly dimensioned map describing the affected site to the satisfaction of the
development authority;

e. Such additional information as the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may require to evaluate the
application, including but not limited to aerial photography, ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
ASSESSMENT, ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT, soil tests, hydro-geological analysis, and
geotechnical reports; and

f. ~ An AREA STRUCTURE PLAN where required by the development authority.

The COUNTY may at any time initiate an amendment to this BYLAW.

Mackenzie County

98



3.21

3.2.2

3.2.3

Where an application for an amendment to this BYLAW has been refused, the submission of
another application to amend this BYLAW for the same parcel and same or similar amendment
may not be made by the same or any other applicant for at least six (6) months after the date of
the BYLAW being defeated by COUNCIL.

In order to ensure a firm commitment for DEVELOPMENT has been received, rezoning
applications involving rural country residential developments shall provide the following:

a. An AREA STRUCTURE PLAN for MULTI-LOT SUBDIVISIONS;

b. A minimum of 10 parcels per rezoning application, or where the total area to be rezoned is
less than 20.2 hectares (50 acres), the total developable area must be subdivided. Where
the lands contain proven WATER BODY/wetlands and/or topographical challenges that
prevent the minimum of 10 LOTS from being created, the minimum number of LOTS may
be decreased;

c. The SUBDIVISION must have legal access that meets COUNTY standards; and

d. Where the existing municipal ROAD is not up to the standard required for the parcel, a
ROAD request or upgrade must be part of the subdivision application.

On first reading being given to a Bylaw to amend this BYLAW, the administration shall:

a. Arrange for notice of a public hearing to be published in two (2) issues of a newspaper
circulating in the COUNTY, the publication date of the second issue being not less than five
(5) days prior to the commencement of the public hearing in a manner outlined in Section
606 of the Act; and

b. Mail a notice of the public hearing to any neighbouring landowners who, in the opinion of
the Development Authority, may be affected by the proposed amendment.

If a BYLAW amendment provides for a change of district or district provisions, administration
shall mail a public hearing notice, not less than fourteen (14) days preceding the public hearing
date, to:

a. The applicant;

b. The REGISTERED OWNER(S) of the land if not the applicant and the REGISTERED
OWNER(S) of adjacent land;

c. An adjacent municipality if the subject amendment lands are adjacent to another
municipality; and

d. Any other authorities or persons who, in the opinion of the Development Authority, may be
affected.

A public hearing notice regarding a BYLAW amendment shall contain the following information:
a. The date, time, and place of the public hearing;

b. The purpose of the proposed Bylaw;

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 27

99



3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

28

c. Map depicting the location of the subject property;

d. The address where a copy of the proposed Bylaw and any applicable public document may
be inspected; and

e. The procedure to be followed at the public hearing.

Within fourteen (14) days of an application to amend this BYLAW being deemed complete by
the Development Authority, the applicant shall post a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application
Notification Sign on the subject property.

Physical Requirements of a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign

A Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application Notification Sign shall:

a. Have a maximum height above ground of 3.0m (9.8ft);

b. Have a surface size of 1.2m (3.9ft) in height and 1.2m (3.9ft) in length; and

c. Be positioned within the subject property line in a location visible from a public roadway.
Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign Contents

Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application Notification Signs shall display the following
information, as per Figure 14:

a. The legal description and municipal address of the subject property;
b. The present LAND USE DISTRICT of the subject property;
c. The proposed LAND USE DISTRICT of the subject property; and

d. The contact information of the COUNTY in bold large font.

Mackenzie County

100



Figure 14. Land Use Bylaw Amendment Sign Example
Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign Removal

3.34 Within seven (7) days upon completion of a public hearing associated with a BYLAW
amendment application, the applicant shall remove the Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application

Notification Sign.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 29

101



4.21

422

4.2.3

4.3.1

30

The Development Authority is established by Bylaw pursuant to Section 624 of the Act.

The Development Authority shall exercise DEVELOPMENT powers and duties on behalf of the
COUNTY.

The Development Authority shall be the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER or, where the context of
this BYLAW permits, the MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION, the INTER-MUNICIPAL
PLANNING COMMISSION or COUNTY COUNCIL.

Pursuant to Section 624 of the Act, the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER is hereby established by this
BYLAW as a Development Authority.

The Chief Administrative Officer shall appoint the person to fill the position of DEVELOPMENT
OFFICER.

The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER is hereby designated to be an authorized person of the
COUNTY to exercise DEVELOPMENT powers on behalf of the COUNTY.

The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER shall:
a. Receive and process all DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications;

b. Keep and maintain for inspection by the public during office hours, a copy of this BYLAW,
as amended and ensure that copies are available to the public at a reasonable charge;

Mackenzie County

102



4.41

4.4.2

4.51

4.6.1
4.6.2

4.6.3

46.4

c. Keep aregister of all DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications, decisions thereon and the
reasons therefore;

d. Make decisions on all PERMITTED USE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications;

e. Make decisions on all PERMITTED USE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications involving a
maximum variance of 10% and refer variance greater than 10% to the MUNICIPAL
PLANNING COMMISION for decision; Refer all DISCRETIONARY USE DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT applications to the MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION for decision;

f.  Issue decisions on all DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications and state terms and
conditions, as authorized by this BYLAW or Section 650 of the Act; and

g. Referall DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications in a Direct Control District to COUNCIL
unless COUNCIL has specifically delegated approval authority to the Development
Authority.

As a Development Authority, the MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION shall issue decisions
on all applications for:

a. DISCRETIONARY USES;

b. Variances greater than 10%;

c. PERMITTED USES referred to it by the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER; and
d. Lands involving a Direct Control 2 (DC2) District.

For the purpose of this section, an INTER-MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION has the
same roles and responsibilities as the MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION.

COUNCIL shall serve as the Development Authority for all applications in a Direct Control 1
(DC1) District.

The Subdivision Authority is established by Bylaw pursuant to Section 632 of the Act.

The Subdivision Authority shall exercise SUBDIVISION powers and duties on behalf of the
COUNTY.

The Subdivision Authority shall be the, where the context of this BYLAW permits, the
MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION, the INTER-MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION or
COUNTY COUNCIL.

The Subdivision Authority may also be, where appointed by Bylaw, an external SUBDIVISION
agency.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 31

103



4.71

4.7.2

4.7.3

4.8.1

4.8.2

4.8.3

32

The SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD shall be established by separate
Bylaw.

The Board shall carry out the duties and responsibilities pursuant to Section 628 of the Act, and
in accordance with the Bylaw that creates it.

In the case of a SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD, Councillors may not
form the majority of the board or committee hearing an appeal.

The INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD shall be
established by a separate Bylaw.

The Board shall carry out the duties and responsibilities pursuant to Section 627 of the Act, and
in accordance with the Bylaw that creates it.

In the case of an INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD,
the Councillors from a single municipality may not form the majority of the board or committee
hearing an appeal.

Mackenzie County

104



Section 4 | Subdivision and Development Authorities

This page was intentionally left blank.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 33

105



5.11

5.21

34

Except as provided in Section 5.2, no person shall commence a DEVELOPMENT in the
COUNTY unless a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has first been issued pursuant to this BYLAW and
the DEVELOPMENT is in accordance with the terms and conditions of the DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT.

The following DEVELOPMENTS shall not require a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT, but must
otherwise comply with all other provisions of this BYLAW:

a. MINOR RENOVATIONS to an existing building provided that:

i.  The building use and the number of DWELLING UNITS within the building or subject
site does not increase; and

ii.  Such works do not include MAJOR RENOVATIONS or construction of a DECK.
b. Completing a building and continuing the use thereof that:
i.  Was lawfully under construction at the date of this BYLAW adoption;

i.  Will be completed, in accordance with the terms of the issued DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT, within 18 months from the date of this BYLAW adoption.

c. The construction or maintenance of gates, fences, walls, or other means of enclosure 1.2m
(4.0ft) or less in height within any front yard and 1.8m (6.0ft) or less in any side or rear
yards pursuant to Section 8.24;

Mackenzie County

106



5.2.2

5.3.1

5.3.2

5.3.3

d. Satellite dishes and antennas located in:
i. Rural areas; and
ii. HAMLET areas provided they are less than 0.9m (3.0ft) in diameter.

e. Stripping of TOPSOIL for agricultural purposes, but not including the removal or stockpile
of TOPSOIL for non-agricultural purposes;

f.  Constructing or using a TEMPORARY building for fire prevention or suppression;

g. Uptotwo (2) ACCESSORY BUILDINGS, each having a floor space not more than 19.0m?
(204.5ft2) and not permanently attached to the ground. All other provisions in this BYLAW
shall be met, such as maximum LOT COVERAGE and height restrictions;

h. Erecting TEMPORARY SIGNS which will be removed from the premises within 30 days;
i.  Demolition / removal of a building having a FLOOR AREA of less than 18.58m? (200.0ft?);

j-  Inresidential LAND USE DISTRICTS, construction of a patio, a fire pit, or an unenclosed
DECK where the structure is no more than 0.6m (2ft) above finished GRADE provided all
applicable LAND USE DISTRICT site setback requirements are met;

k. Use of part of a residential building for hosting a home party for catalogue sales or for the
presentation and promotion of product sales other than the vendor’s residence;

I.  Trapper's CABINS for use with a licensed trap line;
m. Fishing CABINS for use with a commercial fishing license;

n. Above—ground, pre-manufactured swimming pools with a water volume less than 6.11m?
(215.8ft3);

0. INDUSTRIAL CAMP providing accommodations for less than 25 employees and for less
than 60 days on Crown land;

If there is any doubt as to whether or not a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT is required, the
Development Authority shall require a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT.

In accordance with Section 643 of the Act, if a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has been issued on or
before the day on which a Land Use Bylaw or a Land Use Amendment Bylaw comes into force
in a municipality and the Bylaw would make the development for which the permit was issued a
NON-CONFORMING USE or nonconforming building, the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT continues
to be in effect in spite of the coming into force of the Bylaw.

A NON-CONFORMING USE of land or a building may be continued but if that use is
discontinued for a period of six (6) consecutive months or more, any future use of the land or
building shall conform to the provisions of this BYLAW.

A NON-CONFORMING USE of part of a building may be extended throughout the building,
whether or not it is a NON-CONFORMING BUILDING, but the building shall not be enlarged or
added to and no STRUCTURAL ALTERATIONS may be made to or within it.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 35

107



5.3.4

5.3.5

5.3.6

5.4.1

5.4.2

5.4.3

544

545

5.4.6

36

A NON-CONFORMING USE of part of a parcel shall not be extended or transferred in whole or
in part to any other part of the parcel and no additional buildings shall be constructed upon the
parcel while the NON-CONFORMING USE continues.

A NON-CONFORMING BUILDING may continue to be used but the building shall not be
enlarged, added to, rebuilt or structurally altered except:

a. As may be necessary to make it a conforming building; or

b. Asthe DEVELOPMENT OFFICER considers necessary for the routine maintenance of the
building.

If a NON-CONFORMING BUILDING is damaged or destroyed to the extent of more than 75
percent of the value of the building above its foundation, the building shall not be repaired or
rebuilt except in accordance with this BYLAW.

A request for a Compliance Certificate shall include a Real Property Report provided by the
applicant and prepared by a certified legal land surveyor at no cost to the COUNTY.

The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may issue a Compliance Certificate when in their opinion:

a. The buildings shown in the Real Property Report are located on the site in accordance with
the setback regulations of this BYLAW; or

b. The buildings shown in the Real Property Report are located on the site in accordance with
the setback regulations specified in any DEVELOPMENT PERMIT that has been issued for
the site.

The Compliance Certificate shall only address those buildings, or parts thereof, shown on the
Real Property Report.

When a Real Property Report is older than six (6) months and no changes have been made on
the property, the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may allow an affidavit to be submitted in
conjunction with the Real Property Report for Compliance Certificate consideration.

Any Real Property Reports being one (1) year or older will not be accepted for Compliance
Certificate consideration.

The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may refuse to issue a Compliance Certificate when:
a. The Real Property Report does not:

i.  Contain sufficient information to determine if the buildings as shown are in accordance
with regulations of this BYLAW or any DEVELOPMENT PERMIT issued; or

ii. Indicate or accurately depict all DEVELOPMENTS that are located on the LOT;

b. DEVELOPMENTSs on the LOT were constructed without the required DEVELOPMENT
PERMITS; and

c. There are outstanding infractions with this or any other BYLAW.

Mackenzie County

108



5.4.7 The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER shall not complete site inspections to verify the data contained
within the Real Property Report or any affidavit in support of a Real Property Report.

Application for Development Permit

5.5.1 A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application shall be made to the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER on the
prescribed form and shall be signed by the applicant or their agent.

55.2 In addition to the completed application the following are required:
a. Alegal description of the subject property;
b. Municipal address, if applicable;

c. Asite plan of the proposed DEVELOPMENT drawn accurately and providing sufficient
information to determine conformity with this BYLAW. Such site plans shall indicate
building locations, access, parking areas and stalls, on-site circulation, off street loading,
landscaping, SCREENING, grading, or similar details of the DEVELOPMENT proposal.
Architectural renderings and elevations may also be required where appropriate. The
DEVELOPMENT OFFICER, may at their discretion, require a Real Property Report
completed by a registered surveyor;

d. A proof of County approved access;

e. Certificate of Title or proof of ownership of the subject property or the authorization of the
landowner, at the discretion of the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER;

f. A description of the proposed use;
g. The anticipated commencement and completion dates;
h. The estimated cost of the project;

i.  An accurate sketch plan or a plot plan prepared by a registered surveyor at the discretion
of the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER; and

j- Afloor plan, building elevations, and cross sections of the proposed DEVELOPMENT.

553 Subject to the scale and complexity of a proposed development, The DEVELOPMENT
OFFICER may also require:

a. Asite plan of the proposed DEVELOPMENT showing:
i. Existing treed and landscaped areas; and
ii. Trees or vegetation to be preserved and / or removed;

b. A site plan of the proposed DEVELOPMENT at a scale not less than 1:1000, including a
contour interval of not more than 5.0m (16.4ft), and a document showing / describing:

i.  Vehicular access, on-site circulation, parking and loading facilities, camping areas,
and emergency routes;

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 37

109



ii. Provisions of utilities, including water and sewage facilities;
iii. The location and distance to property lines of all existing and proposed buildings;
iv.  The provisions for landscaping, SCREENING, and buffering; and

v. Any other information as required by the Development Authority, including but not
limited to the following a:

i. Plan showing the proposed provisions of sewage, water, and other utilities as well
as of on-street and off-street parking and loading facilities during the peak-use
periods;

i. Statement of the potential impacts of the proposed DEVELOPMENT on
ADJACENT LANDS, and the proposed measures designed to minimize such
adverse impacts; and

iii. A statement of measures, facilities and equipment available for fire prevention and
firefighting.

c. Studies, with associated costs borne by the applicant, regarding:

i. projected traffic volumes;
ii. utilities;
iii. landscaping;

iv. urban design;
v.  parking;

vi.  social and economic effects;

vii. an ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT;

viii. an ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT;

ix. slope, soil and flood plain conditions;
X. sun and wind impact studies; or

xi.  any other information as required by the Development Authority.

d. Documentation generated through Alberta Energy Regulator’'s (AER) online Alberta
Abandoned Well Locations mapping resource that identifies the location of any abandoned
wells within the subject property;

e. A statement of the maximum number of persons anticipated to be on the site during peak
use periods; and

554 As part of the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application for developments adjacent to slopes, the
applicant shall be required to submit a sketch including the assessment of the slope percentage.

38 Mackenzie County

110



555 A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application is deemed accepted when all information needed by
the Development Authority to render a decision has been received. In the event that the
Development Authority considers an application as incomplete or containing insufficient
information, the Development Authority may return the application to the applicant for further
submission.

5.6.1 All DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications and BYLAW amendment applications shall be
accompanied by a fee established by COUNCIL.

5.6.2 The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may waive or reduce the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application
fee if:

a. The applicant is a non-profit organization and the proposed DEVELOPMENT is intended to
promote the general welfare of residents within the COUNTY; or

b. A waiver is authorized by motion of COUNCIL.

Permitted Use Applications

5.7.1 In making a decision on a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application for a PERMITTED USE, the
Development Authority shall:

a. Approve the application, with or without conditions, if the proposed DEVELOPMENT
conforms to this BYLAW; or

b. Refuse the application if the proposed DEVELOPMENT does not conform to this BYLAW.

Discretionary Use Applications

5.7.2 In making a decision on a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application for a DISCRETIONARY USE,
the Development Authority:

a. May approve the application, with or without conditions, if the proposed DEVELOPMENT
conforms to this BYLAW;

b. May refuse the application if the proposed DEVELOPMENT does not conform with the
existing surrounding neighbourhood character; or

c. Shall refuse the application if the proposed DEVELOPMENT does not conform to this
BYLAW.

5.7.3 In reviewing a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application for a DISCRETIONARY USE, the
Development Authority shall have regard to:

a. The circumstances and merits of the application, including but not limited to:

i.  The impact on properties in the vicinity of such nuisance factors as smoke, airborne
emissions, odours and noise;

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 39

111



5.7.4

5.7.5

5.8.1

5.8.2

58.3

5.8.4

5.8.5

5.91

40

ii. The design, character and appearance of the proposed DEVELOPMENT and in
particular whether it is compatible with and complementary to the surrounding
properties; and

iii.  The servicing requirements for the proposed DEVELOPMENT.
b. The purpose and intent of any statutory plan adopted by the COUNTY; and

c. The purpose and intent of any non-statutory plan and pertinent policy adopted by the
COUNTY.

Notwithstanding any requirements of this BYLAW, the Development Authority, at their
discretion, may establish a more stringent standard for a DISCRETIONARY USE.

Temporary Use Approval

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT may be issued on a TEMPORARY basis for a period specified by
the Development Authority.

General

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT is valid for twelve (12) months from the date of its issuance, after
which it becomes expired and void if construction has not commenced.

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT is deemed invalid if the construction is not complete within twenty-
four (24) months from the date the construction has commenced in accordance with section
5.8.1.

If the DEVELOPMENT, authorized by the Development Authority, is not commenced prior to its
expiry date, the Development Authority may grant an extension to the approval of the
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT.

Permitted Use Development Permits

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT issued for a PERMITTED USE does not come into effect until
fourteen (14) days after a notice of decision is communicated. Any development proceeded with
by the applicant prior to the expiry of this period is done solely at the risk of the applicant.

Permitted Use, with a Variance, or Discretionary Use Development Permits

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT issued for a PERMITTED USE requiring a variance or a
DISCRETIONARY USE does not come into effect until fourteen (14) days after a notice of
decision appears in a local newspaper and provided no appeal has been received against the
DEVELOPMENT.

The DEVELOPMENT OFFICER may refer any DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application to The
MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION or INTER-MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION for a
decision, support, or advice.

Mackenzie County

112



5.9.2

5.9.3

5.10.1

5.10.2

5.10.3

A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application may be forwarded to the Operational Services
Department for review and comment within five (5) business days. Any conditions deemed
necessary by the Operational Services Department shall be included in the DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT conditions. Also see Section 5.11.

The DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY may refer any DEVELOPMENT PERMIT or subdivision
application to another municipal department or external agency for their review and comment.
The following is a description of mandatory referrals to external agencies:

Crown Land Development

a. When the MUNICIPALITY receives a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application that is to be
located on Crown land or near a regionally significant or natural area, a copy of the
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application shall be forwarded to the appropriate government
department for comment and recommendations;

Provincial Highway Network

b. The applicant shall be required to obtain an approval from Alberta Transportation, in the
following circumstances:

i.  Subdivision applications within 800.0m (0.50miles) of a provincial highway;

ii. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications within 300.0m (0.19miles) of a provincial
highway; and

ii. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT applications within 800.0m (0.50miles) of a provincial
highway intersection.

Alberta Energy Regulator (AER)
c. The applicant shall be required to obtain approval from AER for developments within
100.0m (328.08ft) of sour gas, gas or oil facilities in accordance with AER regulations;

Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP)

d. Atthe discretion of Development Authority, the applicant may be required to obtain an
approval from AEP subject to the location of the subject property. All ENVIRONMENTAL
AUDITS and ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENTS shall be referred to AEP for
review and comment.

The Development Authority may approve a variance that is no more than 25% difference for any

urban LAND USE DISTRICT and 50% difference for any rural LAND USE DISTRICT from the

requirements of setback, DEVELOPMENT area, FLOOR AREA, or HEIGHT as stipulated in this

BYLAW.

The Development Authority may approve a variance of up to 40% for the Urban Fringe ‘UF’ and
Zama Residential Business ‘Z-RB’ Districts.

A variance may only be granted if, in the opinion of the Development Authority the subject site:
a. Conforms to the use prescribed in this BYLAW,

b. Does not unduly interfere with the amenities of the neighbourhood;

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17

113



5.11.1

5.11.2

42

Does not materially interfere with or affect the use, enjoyment or value of neighbouring
parcels of land, and the proposed DEVELOPMENT conforms with the use prescribed for
that in this BYLAW; and / or

Has irregular LOT LINES or shape which creates difficulties in positioning a structure within
the required setbacks, in which case the Development Authority may permit the
DEVELOPMENT and vary the setback or average the setbacks, such that the proposed
variance would not result in a contravention of the above conditions and would not result in
a DEVELOPMENT that will restrict:

i. Access for emergency response; and
ii. The safe passage for pedestrians and vehicles on adjoining sidewalks and roadways.

Notwithstanding Subsection (c), the Development Authority may refuse a DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT for a use or DEVELOPMENT that is not listed as a PERMITTED USE or
DISCRETIONARY USE.

The DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, may issue a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT set out in Section
650 of the ACT requiring that the applicant enter into a Development Agreement with any or all
the following conditions to:

a.

Construct or pay for the construction of a ROAD required to give access to the
development;

Construct or pay for the construction of;
i. A pedestrian walkway system to serve the development; or

ii. Pedestrian walkways to connect the development with a pedestrian walkway system
that serves or is proposed to serve adjacent development.

Install or pay for the installation of publics utilities, other than telecommunications systems
or works, that are necessary to serve the DEVELOPMENT;

Construct or pay for the construction of;

i. Off-street or other parking facilities; and
i. Loading and unloading facilities.

Pay an off-site levy or redevelopment levy;

Provide security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this section are carried
out.

The COUNTY may register a caveat in respect of a Development Agreement, made under this
section, for land subject to DEVELOPMENT. The Development Agreement will be discharged
when all conditions contained therein have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Development
Authority.

Mackenzie County

114



5.11.3

511.4

5.12.1

5.12.2

5.12.3

5.12.4

5.12.5

Subject to this BYLAW, any statutory plan and the Act, the Development Authority may attach
whatever conditions they consider appropriate to a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT for either a
DISCRETIONARY USE or PERMITTED USE, including but not limited to the following:

a. Landscaping requirements;

b. Noise attenuation;

c. Special parking provisions;

d. Location, appearance, and character of a building;

e. Grading of a site to protect adjacent properties;

f.  And ensuring the proposed DEVELOPMENT is compatible with the surrounding land uses;

g. Repair, reinstate, or pay for the repair or reinstatement to original condition of, any street
furniture, curbing, sidewalk, boulevard, tree or other landscaping features, that may be
damaged or otherwise affected by the DEVELOPMENT;

No DEVELOPMENT, except for yard site preparation, shall be permitted on any property until
the COUNTY has approved an access to the property from a ROAD.

All approvals on DEVELOPMENT PERMITS, as pursuant to Section 640 of the Act, shall be in
writing and mailed by the Development Authority to the applicant.

All refusals on DEVELOPMENT PERMITS shall be in writing and sent via registered mail by the
Development Authority to the applicant.

When the Development Authority refuses an application for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT, or
refuses to grant an extension to the approval of a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT, the reasons for
such refusal shall be contained in the decision.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this BYLAW, the granting of a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
shall:

a. Indicate that the DEVELOPMENT to which the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT relates is
authorized in accordance with the provisions of this BYLAW, and shall not relieve or
excuse any person from complying with this or any other BYLAWSs or regulations that affect
the proposed DEVELOPMENT; and

b. Not deprive the Development Authority’s right of refusing the issuance of a permit or
approval that may be required by this or other BYLAWS, regarding other DEVELOPMENT
on the same property.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the granting of a DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT shall be without prejudice to the Development Authority’s rights to refuse or approve
any other permit as may be required with respect to this or any other BYLAW regarding other
DEVELOPMENT on the same property.

Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 43

115



5.12.6

5.12.7

5.13.1

5.14.1

5.15.1

5.15.2

44

Permitted Use Development Permits

When a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has been approved for a PERMITTED USE involving a
variance, the Development Authority may mail a notice immediately to all ADJACENT
landowners when it is deemed that amenities, use or enjoyment of ADJACENT lands may be
affected.

Discretionary Use Development Permits

When a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has been approved for a DISCRETIONARY USE, the
Development Authority:

a. Shall immediately publish a notice in a newspaper circulating in the COUNTY stating the
location of the property for which the application has been made and the use approved;

b. May mail a notice immediately to all ADJACENT landowners when it is deemed that
amenities, use or enjoyment of ADJACENT lands may be affected;

In the case where an application for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT has been refused pursuant to
this BYLAW, by the SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or the INTER-
MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or the Alberta Court of
Appeal, the submission of another application for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT on the same
property and for the same or similar use of the land by the same or any other applicant may not
be accepted by the DEVELOPMENT OFFICER for at least six months after the date of the
previous refusal.

An application for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT may be deemed to have been refused if no
decision is made by the Development Authority within forty (40) days, from the date of receipt of
the completed application, unless the applicant has agreed to extend the forty (40) day period.

Grounds for Appeals

The applicant for a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT may appeal to the Subdivision and Development
Appeal Board or an INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL
BOARD if the Development Authority:

a. Refuses or fails to make a decision on a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT within forty (40) days of
receipt of a completed application; or

b. Issues a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT subject to conditions.

In addition to the applicant, any person affected by a DEVELOPMENT PERMIT or the decision
on it, may appeal to the SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or INTER-
MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD.

Mackenzie County

116



5.15.3

5.15.4

5.15.5

5.15.6

5.15.7

Notwithstanding Sections 5.15.1 and 5.15.2, no appeal lies in respect of the issuance of a
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT for a PERMITTED USE unless the provisions of this BYLAW are
relaxed, varied, or misinterpreted.

Procedure for Appeals

A DEVELOPMENT appeal to a SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or
INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD is to be
commenced by filing a notice of the appeal, containing reasons, to the Secretary of the
SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION
AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD within fourteen (14) days in the case of an appeal by:

a. The applicant after:
i.  The date the applicant is notified of the decision; or

i. If no decision is made on the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT application within forty (40)
days of the application being made or the date that period of any extension of it
expires.

b. A person affected, after the date on which the COUNTY publishes notice of the
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT decision in a newspaper circulating in the COUNTY.

Hearing and Decision

The SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or INTER-MUNICIPAL
SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD must hold a public hearing within thirty
(30) days after receipt of a notice of appeal.

Where an appeal is lodged against a DEVELOPMENT, the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT that has
been granted shall not come into effect until the SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL
BOARD or INTER-MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD has
rendered a decision.

There is no appeal to the SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD or INTER-
MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD in th